#### Accepted Manuscript

Title: Omega-3 fatty acids and adipose tissue function in obesity and metabolic syndrome

Author: Leyre Martínez-Fernández Laura M. Laiglesia Ana E. Huerta J. Alfredo Martínez María J. Moreno-Aliaga



PII:S1098-8823(15)30004-6DOI:http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2015.07.003Reference:PRO 6136To appear in:Prostaglandins and Other Lipid MediatorsReceived date:18-2-2015Revised date:6-6-2015Accepted date:15-7-2015

Please cite this article as: Martínez-Fernández Leyre, Laiglesia Laura M, Huerta Ana E, Martínez J Alfredo, Moreno-Aliaga María J.Omega-3 fatty acids and adipose tissue function in obesity and metabolic syndrome.*Prostaglandins and Other Lipid Mediators* http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2015.07.003

This is a PDF file of an unedited manuscript that has been accepted for publication. As a service to our customers we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in its final form. Please note that during the production process errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

Omega-3 fatty acids and adipose tissue function in obesity and metabolic syndrome

Leyre Martínez-Fernández<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Laura M Laiglesia<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Ana E. Huerta<sup>a,b</sup>, J. Alfredo Martínez<sup>a,b,c,d</sup> and María J. Moreno-Aliaga<sup>a,b,c,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Nutrition, Food Science and Physiology. School of Pharmacy.University of Navarra.

<sup>b</sup>Centre for Nutrition Research. School of Pharmacy.University of Navarra.

<sup>°</sup>CIBER Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBERobn), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Spain.

<sup>d</sup>IdiSNA, Navarra Institute for Health Research. Pamplona, Spain.

\*Both co-authors contributed equally to this work.

Corresponding author and address for reprints:Prof. María J. Moreno-Aliaga. Department of Nutrition, Food Science and Physiology.School of Pharmacy.University of Navarra, C/Irunlarrea 1, 31008 Pamplona, Spain.(Tel.:+34 948 425 600, Ext. 6558; Fax +34 948 425 740). E-mail: <u>mjmoreno@unav.es</u>

#### Abstract

The n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFAs) such as eicosapentaenoic (EPA) and docosahexaenoic (DHA) have been reported to improve obesity-associated metabolic disorders includingchronic inflammation, insulin resistance and dyslipidaemia. Growing evidence exits about adipose tissue as a target in mediating the beneficial effects of these marine n-3 PUFAs in adverse metabolic syndrome manifestations. Therefore, in this manuscript we focus in reviewing the current knowledge about effects of marine n-3 PUFAs on adipose tissue metabolism and secretory functions. This scope includes n-3 PUFAs actions on adipogenesis, lipogenesis and lipolysis as well as on fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial biogenesis. The effects of n-3 PUFAs on adipose tissue glucose uptake and insulin signaling are also summarized. Moreover, the roles of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ) and AMPK activation in mediating n-3 PUFAs actions on adipose tissue discussed. Finally, the mechanisms underlying the ability of n-3 PUFAs to prevent and/or ameliorate adipose tissue inflammation are also revised, focusing on the role of n-3 PUFAs-derived specialized proresolving lipid mediators such as resolvins, protectins and maresins.

**Keywords:** Marine origin omega-3 fatty acids, obesity, metabolic syndrome, adipose tissue, glucose metabolism, lipid metabolism, adipogenesis, adipokines, omega-3-derived proresolving lipid mediators.

#### Contents

- 1. Adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity and metabolic complications
  - 1.1. Obesity and adipose tissue
  - 1.2. Obesity and inflammation
- 2. N-3 PUFAs in obesity and related-metabolic disorders
  - 2.1. Evidence from animal models
  - 2.2. Evidences from clinical trials in humans
- 3. N-3 PUFAs actions in adipose tissue
  - 3.1. Effects on adipocyte proliferation and differentiation
  - 3.2. Effects on lipid storage and mobilization
  - 3.3. Effects on mitochondrial biogenesis and adipose tissue browning
  - 3.4. Effects on glucose metabolism and insulin signaling
  - 3.5. Effects on adipokines production
  - 3.6. Role of PPARs and AMPK in the actions of n-3 PUFAs in adipose tissue
  - 3.7. Effects on adipose tissue inflammation
- 4. Effects of n-3 PUFAs-derived SPMs in obesity and MetS
- 5. Conclusions

Acknowledgements

References

#### 1. Adipose tissue dysfunctionin obesity and metabolic complications

#### 1.1. Obesity and adipose tissue

Obesity constitutes a global health problem responsible of 2.8 million deaths each year and whose prevalence has almost doubled in the last thirty years [1]. This condition, characterized by an excessive fat accumulation and accompanied by chronic low-grade inflammation, is related to metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, atherosclerosis or hypertension being those main components of Metabolic Syndrome (MetS)[2].

Adipose tissue plays a key role in the pathogenesis of obesity and associated complications. Three types of adipose tissue with different precursor cells, phenotype, function and regulation have been, so far,identified: 1) the energy storing white adipose tissue (WAT), 2) the energy consuming brown adipose tissue (BAT), and3) the recently described beige/"brite" adipose tissue[3].

WAT is the main storage organ, accumulating the excess of energy in the form of triglycerides, which can be mobilized under energy deprivation conditions. In addition, WAT acts as an important endocrine organ releasing a broad range of molecules called adipokines involved in the regulation of many physiological functions including body weight (leptin), vascular metabolism (PAI-1), glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity (adiponectin) and a number of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines(TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6, RBP-4 or MCP-1)among others [4,5].Therefore, WAT is integrated in an overall cross-talk between different organs and tissues involved in energy homeostasis, including central nervous system (CNS), liver, skeletal muscle and pancreas due to the release of adipocytokines and the expression of receptors that facilitates two-waycommunications[6].

WAT is distributed around the body in different depots such as abdominal, subcutaneous or gonadal regions with different adipokine secretion profiles. It has been reported that accumulation of visceral adipose tissue (VAT) has a prominent role as a risk factor for

MetSdue to its location surrounding important organs such as liver, which directly receives venous blood from VAT through the portal vein. Moreover it is known to be more metabolically active than other depots with increased protein secretion[7]. In addition, in obesity VAT expandability is more limited than subcutaneous adipose tissue leading more easily to hypertrophied adipocytes [2,7].

On the other hand, BAT is known to be specialized in adaptativethermogenesis being uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) the main responsible[8]. This thermogenic mechanism plays a key role defending against hypothermia and obesity. However, the endocrine function of suchadipocytes is poorly characterized yet. Increasing evidence indicates that BAT produces factors with autocrine and paracrine actions on metabolism such as fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF-21) or retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4)[9–11].

During the last years a new type of adipose tissue has been described and named as beige or "brite" adipose tissue. These recently discovered adipocytes have been found within some white adipose depots, but exerting similar functional and molecular characteristics as brown adipocytes. As a matter of fact, beige adipocytes have morphological characteristics of classical brown adipocytes. Thus, they are multilocularand have increased mitochondrial respiratory machinery and express inducible UCP1 having thereforethermogenic characteristics. However, it has been recently described that beige adipocytes express several beige adipocyte-specific genes that are not expressed in classical brown adipocytes such as *Tbx1*, *Tmem26* and *CD137*, among others[12,13].

#### 1.2 Obesity and inflammation

Increased adiposity is accompanied by a low-grade chronic inflammation. In order to accumulate the excess of energy intake, a hypertrophy and hyperplasia of adipocytes take place. These hypertrophied adipocytes present an altered secretory pattern resulting in increased secretion of proinflammatoryadipokines, cytokines and chemokines such

asmonocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), leptin, interleukin (IL)-6 or tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , and reduced production of anti-inflammatory adipokines, including adiponectin[14,15].

In addition, abundant researchhas demonstrated that a progressive infiltration and activation of macrophages and T cells to adipose tissue occurs in hypertrophied adipose tissue [16–19].During obesity, the pro-inflammatory MCP-1 is secreted at high levels promoting the recruitment of macrophages to WAT[20]. Furthermore, it is recognized that a polarization of macrophages with an anti-inflammatory phenotype M2 to a M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype occurs in WAT during obesity, which also contributes to the generation of an inflammatory state[21,22]. These M1 macrophages usually are accumulated surrounding the hypertrophic necrotic adipocytes forming a crown like structure[23].

Although, initially all these inflammatory processes belong to the adipose tissue, they can finally derive in a chronic systemic inflammation[24,25], affecting different tissues such as liver and skeletal muscle, and causing metabolic disturbances including insulin resistance (IR) or non-alcoholic fatty liver disease[26–30].

Therefore, modulating production/release of pro-inflammatory/anti-inflammatory molecules from adipose tissue becomes an important target to avoid or alleviate the systemic inflammation and to reduce the development of comorbidities associated with obesity such as type 2 diabetes or dyslipidemia.

#### 2. N-3 PUFAs in obesity and related-metabolic disorders

N-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFAs) are essential nutrients derived from marine or vegetal sources, being the most relevant those from marine origin as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6), which can be found in oily fish including salmon, tuna, mackerel, anchovy and sardines[31]. Moreover,

although the vegetable derivative, α-linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3) is able to be converted to EPA and DHA into the organism, the conversion rate is apparently modest, making necessary a direct intake of these marine n-3 PUFAs to achieve an optimal consumption [32–34]. Varying depending of gender, conversion rate in men ranges between 0-4% and between 4-8% for DHA and EPA, respectively [32,34] while in women is approximately 9.2% and 21% for DHA and EPA, respectively[33].

Several trials in humans and rodents have suggested potential beneficial effects of these marine n-3 PUFAs in different chronic inflammatory diseases such as cardiovascular disease, atherosclerosis, Alzheimer, asthma, arthritis, colitis or obesity and MetS[35].

In this review we summarize the current knowledge about the beneficial properties of n-3 PUFAs of marine origin on obesity and associated disorders, particularly focusing on their actions on adipose tissue size and adipocyte metabolism and function.

#### 2.1. Evidence from animal models

There is evidence of n-3 PUFAs beneficial effects on obesity associated diseases as MetS or type 2diabetes. Table 1 summarizes trials analyzing the effects of marine origin n-3 PUFAs supplementation on adiposity and metabolic syndrome features in animal models of obesity.

The body lowering actions of marine origin n-3 PUFAs supplementation are controversial. Thus, some studies support that n-3 PUFAs can significantly decrease body weight and fat mass[36–47]. Other trials did not find any significant action on body weight loss but a significant reduction in some fat depots was observed in n-3 PUFAs supplemented groups [45,48–50]. In contrast, other studies did not report any change in body weight or fat mass after dietary supplementation with n-3 PUFAs[51–56].

Regarding lipid metabolism, a wide range of studies support thetriglyceride (TG)-loweringpropertiesofmarineoriginn-3PUFAssupplementation[42,47,51,53,39,36,44,57,46,43,45,56,49,50] (see Table 1).

Additionally, most of studies in rodents also described favorable effects of dietary supplementation with marine origin n-3 PUFAs on glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity (see Table 1). Thus, although there are some investigations that did not reach conclusive results[50–52], most of the reviewed publications reported improvements in fasting glycemia[47,53,39,41,42,46,36,44,49]and

insulinemia[47,41,54,48,43,44,46,45,56].Furthermore, some studies have found an improvement inglucose or insulin tolerance[36,41,45,46,49]in murine models treated with EPA, DHA, a mixture of both or in combination with Rosiglitazone. However, other trials did not find any significant change in glucose tolerance in n-3 PUFAs supplemented groups[52,54](see Table 1).

The apparent controversial outcomes between trials regarding the effects on n-3 PUFAs on body weight, glucose and lipid metabolism could be due to the different animal model of obesity (genetic vs diet-induced obesity) used, as well as to the type and formulation of n-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA or a combination in TG form or as Ethyl ester), the dosage and the duration of treatment.

Moreover, Table 2 summarizes studies evaluating the effects of endogenous production of n-3 PUFAs, using the fat-1 transgenic mice, which contain the fat-1 gene from *Caenorhabditiselegans* and are able to convert n-6 to n-3 PUFAs *in vivo*[58]. Although the evidence suggest that the general increment of n-3 PUFAs into the organism of fat-1 mice has no effect in the reduction of weight in the context of either a isocaloric diet or versus a calorie restriction regime [59–61], several studies have observed that these mice are protected against the weight gain subsequent to a high fat diet (HFD) [61,62]. Moreover, even though the study of White et al. [60] did not observe differences in both body weight and adiposity between the fat-1 mice and their matched wild-type fed with a HFD, other study of the same group [63], found changes in the adipocyte size into the epididymal adipose tissue of transgenic mice,

predominating the mid-sized adipocytes upon the large and very large adipocytes. The effects of endogenous production of n-3 PUFAs on lipid metabolism in the fat-1 mice have been evaluated only in few studies. Although Belchior et al. [61] observed no effect in any of the blood lipid parameters measured, Romanatto et al. [64] found in the 8-month-old fat-1 mice lower levels of TG and cholesterol than the littermate controls (see Table 2). Concerningglucose homeostasismarkers in fat-1 transgenic mice, slightly different outcomes have been found. While some studies observed low fasting glucose and improvements in insulin sensitivity in fat-1 male mice fed with HFD [60,61], other trial did not detect significant changes [65]. Despite these findings, the increment in the endogenous production of n-3 PUFAs has been shown to have beneficial impact in glucose tolerance [60,61,63,65] and in metabolic age-related glucose alterations [64]. In this sense, Bellenger et al. [66] observed that in the fat-1 mice, the  $\beta$ -cell damage and the impairments in glucose metabolism caused by the toxic effects of streptozotocin were prevented (see Table 2).

#### 2.2. Evidences from clinical trials in humans

During the last years a number of clinical trials have been carried out to find outthe potential benefits of n-3 PUFAs supplementation in subjects with obesity and metabolic syndrome features (see reviews[31,67,68]).

In accordance with the outcomes in animal models, most of clinical trials in humans strongly support the hypotriglyceridemic benefits of marine origin n-3 PUFAs supplementation. Based on this available evidence, several agencies and associations have recommended intakes of 2 to 4 g per day as an effective therapy for hypertriglyceridemia[69,70]. However, the effects of marine origin n-3 PUFAs on body weight and body composition and on cholesterol metabolism in patients with MetS remain unclear. Furthermore, in contrast to the observations in murine models suggesting that the supplementation with marine origin n-3 PUFAs could promote an improvement in insulin sensitivity, most of trials in subjects with MetS suggest

that n-3 PUFAs are not effective in decreasing glucose metabolism parameters or improving the insulin sensitivity[68].Further larger clinical trials are needed to better elucidate the efficacy of n-3 PUFAs on these MetSfeatures.

#### 3. n-3 PUFAs actions in adipose tissue

A significant number of studies consider that n-3PUFAs are able to improve impaired metabolism in obesity by modulating main metabolic pathways in key metabolic organs such as adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle[71,38,72,73,46,15,31].Here, we will focus in reviewing theactions and mechanisms of marine origin n-3 PUFAs in adipose tissue metabolism and functions.

#### **3.1.** Effects on adipocyte proliferation and differentiation

Adipogenesis is the process of differentiation of preadipocytes to mature adipocytes. Adipocyte differentiation is a complex process mainly regulated by two families of transcription factors, CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBPs) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ). Thus,C/EBP $\beta$  and C/EBP $\delta$  are involved in the early stages of adipogenesis. In fact, once activated, C/EBP $\beta$  trans-activates the expression of C/EBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$ , two master transcription factors for maintain terminal adipocytedifferentiation, which coordinately activate genes whose expression produces the adipocyte phenotype [74,75].

In this context, marine origin n-3 PUFAs have been shown to regulate adipocyte differentiation, but their actions are still controversial. Thus, some studies referred that an increase in adipogenesis occurred when n-3 PUFAs are added to the culture medium [76,77]. Moreover, it has been reported that DHA (50 $\mu$ M)more than EPA induced differentiation of adipocytes by upregulating mRNA levels of *C/ebpa*, *Ppary* and adipocyte protein 2 (*aP2*) in

3T3-L1 cells [76]. Besides, it has been described increased protein levels of PPAR $\gamma$ , followed by an accumulation of lipid droplets when EPA(250 $\mu$ M) was added [77].

In contrast, other trials support the ability of marine origin n-3 PUFAs to inhibit adipocyte proliferation and differentiation by downregulating the main transcription factors involved in adipogenesis[78–81]. In such a way, Kim et al. [81] reported that DHA (25-200 $\mu$ M)treatment resulted in a dose-dependent inhibition of adipose differentiation, reducing lipid area and number of lipid droplets. Further investigations have revealed that DHA (100  $\mu$ M) and EPAas well, reduced lipid accumulation and led to lower *Ppar* $\gamma$  gene expression during differentiation. Moreover, EPA is also able to suppress *C/ebpβ* expression levels in 3T3-L1 cells [78,79].

In addition to the effects on adipocyte differentiation, some studies have suggested that n-3 PUFAs can also regulate adipocyte apoptosis. In this way, Kim et al. [81] reported that DHA (100-200  $\mu$ M) induced apoptosis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Other study found that EPA (250  $\mu$ M) reduced pAKT, BCL-2 and NF- $\kappa$ B, while increase AKT, BAD and PPAR $\gamma$  levels, suggesting that n-3 PUFAs promote differentiation, inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in this preadipocyte cell line [77].

Furthermore, marine origin n-3 PUFAs have been related with a modulation in cellularity in adipose tissue in rodents. In this sense, Tekeleselassie et al. [82] found increased number of adipocytes in inguinal fat depots rats when n-3 PUFAs (3.33%-6.67% wt/wt)were added to diet for 22 weeks. Accordingly, White at al. [63] observed an increment of the pro-adipogenic transcription factor *Ppary*gene expression and an inhibition of *Gata3* gene, an inhibitor of adipocyte transition to fully differentiated adipocytein epididymal adipose tissue of fat-1 mice, suggesting that transgenic restoration of n-3 PUFAs promotes adipogenesis. In contrast, other study in mice demonstrated that a low dose of n-3 PUFAsadded to diet led to a

reduction in number of cells, which was responsible of a decrease in adipose tissue weight [83].

Taking all these data together, it can be concluded that marine origin n-3 PUFAs may potentially modulate adipocyte size and number by regulating adipocyte differentiation and apoptosis. However, more studies are necessary to better clarify the mechanisms involved in these actions of n-3 PUFAs on adipocytes.

#### **3.2.** Effects on lipid storage and mobilization

Accumulation of triglycerides in adipocytes is settled by a balance between lipolysis and fatty acid oxidation (fat breakdown) and lipogenesis (fat synthesis). Triglycerides storage in adipocytes can be the result of dietary fatty acid (FA) uptake or *de novo* FA biosynthesis. This last process takes place mainly in liver and in a lower extent in adipose tissue, but recently it has been pointed out the importance of lipogenesis in adipose tissue as a possible strategy to combat obesity and diabetes conditions [84].

N-3 PUFAs have been identified as modulators of lipogenic enzymes and thus, being able to regulate lipogenesis in WAT. Thus, both DHA and EPA ( $100\mu$ M)decreased stearoyl-CoA desaturase (*Scd*)-1 gene expression and protein levels in 3T3-L1 cells [79,80]. In the same cell line, it has been found that EPA(150 µM, 48 h) decreased glycerol-3phosphate dehydrogenase another enzyme involved in lipogenesis[42]. In contrast, Guo et al. [74] did not find any significant change in lipogenesis in EPA-treated ( $100\mu$ M, 24 h)3T3-L1 adipocytes. However, a previous study of our group in primary cultured rat adipocytes evidenced a decrease in the percentage of glucose incorporated into triglycerides in EPA-treated ( $200\mu$ M, 96 h) cells, suggesting a decrease in lipogenesis[85]. The apparent differential outcomes among studies may be due to differences in culture characteristics (cell lines *vs.* primary adipocytes) as well as the doses tested and the duration of the treatments.

In addition to cultured adipocytes studies, some groups also found important features of marine origin n-3 PUFAs in animal models. For instance, a trial with rats fed with high sucrose diet revealed that fish oil supplementation for 2 weekssuppressed fatty acid synthase (*Fas*) mRNA levels in brown adipose tissue [86]. Furthermore, a study with Wistar rats demonstrated that *Fas* mRNA levels were lower in retroperitoneal adipose tissue of animals fed with a with a mixture of EPA and DHA (20% of fat) or DHA-rich diet for 4 weeks [50]. Moreover, adipose tissue specific PPAR $\gamma$  knockout mice showed a downregulation in *Scd-1* expression when a n-3 PUFAs concentrate containing 45%DHA, 14%EPA (replacing 15% of dietary lipids)was added to their diet for 42 days[37]. Interestingly, Hiller et al. [87] found a downregulation of *Fas*, but not of *Scd-1* mRNA levels in subcutaneous adipose tissue when German Holstein bulls were fed with increased levels of n-3 PUFAsup to 58.8% in their diet. In summary, the studies in animal models pointed out the importance of n-3 PUFAs in downregulatinglipogenic genes expression and therefore decreasing lipogenesis and fat accumulation.

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is the primary enzyme responsible for chylomicron- and VLDL-TG lipolysis in endothelial cells of capillaries in adipose tissue, and therefore is considered as a master regulator for adipocyte fatty acid uptake from triglyceride-rich lipoprotein. It is thought, that n-3 PUFAs could modulate this enzyme. In this regard, Baltzell et al. [88] found decreased fat weight and adipose LPL in parallel to increased soleus muscle LPL and decreased plasma triacylglycerol in fish oil fed rats, suggesting a shift from fat deposition to oxidation. Nozaki et al. [89]also found that post-heparin LPL activity was lower at 60 min when fish oil (20 capsules day, containing 280mg of EPA and 120mg of DHA)was administered to hypertriacylglycerolemic patientsfor 24 days. However, Harris et al. [90] showed an increase of LPL activity in healthy and hypertriacylglycerolemic patients after supplementation with a fish oil concentrate (5 g/day, containing 41% EPA and 23% DHA

during 4 weeks). Besides, other study demonstrated increased levels LPL activity in postheparin plasma of healthy males after 6 weeks of intervention with supplemented diet either with 6g of fish oil or six 1g capsules of EPA/DHA concentrate (EPAX 5500TG) [91], suggesting that the effect of n3- PUFAs to LPL activity may differ during time.

Lipolysis is the main pathway involved in the breakdown of lipids in WAT. Lipolysis is a highly regulated process in which TG are hydrolyzed through the consecutive action of three major lipases: adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL/desnutrin), hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) and monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL). Some lipid droplet proteins such as perilipin also play a key role in the lipolytic process. Thus, under basal conditions, perilipin A maintains a low rate of basal lipolysis by restricting the access of cytosolic lipases to the lipid droplet [92].

Several studies have reported the ability n-3 PUFAs to modulate lipolysis by acting on the main lipases and lipid droplets proteins. Some trials have suggested that DHA seems to promote lipid mobilization. Thus, DHA (50-200  $\mu$ M) addition to fully differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes increased basal lipolysis by inducing glycerol release [81]. Other authors also observed that DHA (100  $\mu$ M)treatment increased lipolysis in 3T3-L1 cells by an up-regulation of *Atgl* and a down-regulation of perilipin gene expression [80]. In the same adipocyte line, it has been found that treatment with EPA (100  $\mu$ M) during the 7-days of adipocyte differentiation reduced lipid droplet size and increase *Hsl* gene expression [79]. However, other assay found that the treatment of mature primary rat adipocytes with EPA (100-200 $\mu$ M) for 96 h decreased basal lipolysis [93]. In obesity, the increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines secreted by adipose tissue are responsible of the upregulation of lipolysis observed in obese subjects, leading to increased circulating levels of free fatty acids (FFA), which interfere with insulin signaling in other tissues such as liver and skeletal muscle favoring the development of insulin resistance [94]. Interestingly, a previous study of our group found that EPA treatment is able to prevent the lipolytic effects of TNF- $\alpha$  in cultured

adipocytes in parallel with the reduction of both TNF- $\alpha$  induced NF-kB-DNA binding and phosphorylation of ERK1/2. EPA also reduced ATGL levels and induced phosphorylation of HSL in the serine<sup>565</sup> residue, which prevent PKA-mediated activation of HSL [93]

Regarding the effects of *in vivo* treatment with n-3 PUFAs on lipolytic enzymes, Sun et al. [71] found that DHA (6.25-12.5 g/kg, intragastric daily administration) for 3 weeks increased in a dose-dependent manner the gene expression of *Hsl*and triglyceride hydrolase (*Tgh*) in adipose tissue of mice. Moreover, dietary supplementation with EPA to high-fat diet (HFD)-fed rats is also able to regulate the expression levels of lipases in WAT. Hence, oral supplementation with EPA ethyl ester (1 g/kg) daily for 35 dayspartially reversed the down-regulation of *Hsl* and *Atgl* mRNA observed in retroperitoneal fat of HFD-fed rats [93].

Moreover, several investigations have suggested that n-3 PUFAs may increase fatty acid oxidation in mitochondria and peroxisome. In this sense, EPA-treated (100 $\mu$ M, 24h) 3T3-L1 adipocytes exhibited increased fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation [74] in parallel with a rise in carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT-1A) activity[74]. Similar results have been reported in animal models. Flachs et al. [38] demonstrated that the addition of n-3 PUFAs to diet (6% EPA/51%DHA, replacing 44% of dietary fat for 4 weeks) in male C57BL/6J mice increased mRNA levels of *Cpt1a* in epididymal adipose tissue and acyl-CoA oxidase 1 (*Acox1*) in epididymal and dorsolumbar fat suggesting stimulation of fatty acid oxidation in these fat depots.

In summary, current evidences about marine origin n-3 PUFAs actions on adipocyte lipid metabolism suggest that these fatty acids orchestrate a modulation of different enzymes involves in metabolic pathways responsible for lipid storage and lipid breakdown and oxidation, facilitating the reduction of triglyceride accumulation in adipose tissue.

#### **3.3.** Effects on mitochondrial biogenesis and adipose tissue browning

Several studies have pointed out to an association between adipose tissue mitochondrial dysfunction with the progress of obesity and type 2 diabetes [95]. In fact, a reduction in the abundance of adipocyte mitochondrial number and impaired mitochondrial function leads to reduced fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation facilitating fat accumulation and the development of obesity-associated comorbidities such as insulin resistance and dyslipidemia [96]. Therefore, nutritional or pharmacological strategies to increase mitochondrial function and biogenesis could contribute to prevent or treat these metabolic disorders.

Interestingly, some studies have suggested the ability of marine origin n-3 PUFAs to upregulate mitochondrial biogenesis in WAT. In this context, it has been described that n-3 PUFAs(DHA and ALA, 200  $\mu$ M for 24 h) increased mRNA levels of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (*Pgc-1a*)and*nuclear respiratory factor 1* (*Nrf1*), which aretwo transcription factors that are particularly important for mitochondrial biogenesis in cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes [38]. In addition, a recent study have revealed the capacity of EPA (200  $\mu$ M) to not only induce mitochondrial DNA content and the expression of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis (*PGC1a*, *Nrf1* and *COXiv*), but also to increase *Ucp1*, *Ucp2*, *Ucp3* and *Cidea* mRNA during differentiation of adipocytes from stroma vascular cells of inguinal fat, suggesting that EPA promotes browning of inguinal fat adipocytes. Importantly, this effect was not found when EPA (200  $\mu$ Mfor 24 h)was added to mature inguinal adipocytes, suggesting that EPA exerts the browning effects via recruiting brite adipocytes [97].

Importantly, Flachs et al. [38] evidenced that supplementation of HFD with an EPA/DHA concentrate (6% EPA/51%DHA, replacing 44% of dietary fat) for 4 weeksupregulated*PGC1α* and *Nrf1* and also genes encoding for mitochondrial proteins involved in oxidative phosphorylation, in addition to an increase of mitochondrial SDHA, MT-CO1, COX6 and ATP5A1 protein levels in epididymal fat. Further studies of the same

16

group have demonstrated that a combination treatment of marine origin n-3 PUFAs (46% DHA, 14% EPA, replacing 15% of dietary lipids) and mild caloric restriction for 5 weeks had synergistic actions in the prevention of obesity and related metabolic disturbances such as inflammation and insulin resistance in parallel with a synergistic induction of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) and FFA oxidation, specifically in epididymal WAT. Interestingly, these changes occurred without induction of UCP1 [56]. In support of this finding, the study of Janovska et al. [49] showed that the anti-obesity effects of marine origin n-3 PUFAs (46%DHA, 14%EPA, replacing 15% of dietary lipids) in mice fed HFD for 7 months were independent of cold-induced thermogenesis. Taking together these observations, it was suggested that n-3 PUFAsare able to promote mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative capacity in WAT independently of UCP1 [56].

Also, n-3 PUFAs have been shown to increase brown adipose tissue mitochondrial mass and induce a marked stimulation of BAT thermogenic activity without changes in the UCP content. Interestingly, a synergistic effect of EPA and DHA (27.5 g/100 gdiet for 4 weeks) was found [98]. However, other study found that fish-oil enriched diet (200 g/kg diet for 21 days) increased *Ucp1* mRNA levels in brown adipose tissue in rats [99].

Further studies are needed to better characterize the potential brightening properties of marine origin n-3 PUFAs *in vivo* and especially in human adipose tissue.

#### 3.4. Effects on Glucose metabolism and insulin signaling

Dysfunctional WAT expansion in obesity with concomitant immune cells mobilization leads to the activation of inflammatory cascades that have an adverse impact on insulin signaling and glucose uptake, favoring the development of insulin resistance [100]. Insulin binds its cell surface receptor (IR) leading to the phosphorylation of IRS proteins (IRS-1 and IRS-2) on tyrosine residues and starts a downstream cascade. Proteins such as phosphatidylinositol3kinase (PI3K) and AKT play essential roles along this signaling pathway promoting a wide

range of biological responses including glucose transporter (GLUT) 4 translocation to the plasma membrane or glycogen synthesis [101].

While several studies in animal models have largely suggested that n-3 PUFAs may have insulin sensitizing properties, the underlying mechanisms are not completely understood yet. Accumulating evidence shows that marine origin n-3 PUFAs may improve insulin signal transduction in adipocytes, affecting in turn, the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake through to regulation of the expression or the translocation of the insulin-dependent glucose transporter GLUT4 [55,102,103].

Interestingly, it has been reported that adipocytes from n-3 PUFAs-depleted rats had lower basal and insulin-stimulated glucose incorporation [104] suggesting a role of n-3 PUFAs in the regulation of glucose uptake by adipocytes. *In vitro* investigations carried out in cultured adipocytes demonstrated that treatment with EPA (200  $\mu$ M, 96 h) increased glucose uptake in primary rat adipocytes [85]. Moreover, cultured adipocytes from rats supplemented with fish oil for a week reported increased levels of GLUT4and GLUT1 with concomitant promotion of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake [105].

An upregulation of *Glut4* in adipose tissue has been also reported in high sucrose diet (HSD)insulin resistant ratsfed with fish oil (14% of lipids replacement) for 3 weeks [106]. Similarly, an increase in adipose *Glut4* was observed in HFD-induced obese rats fed with n-3 PUFAs (19% of fat from fish oil) for 4 weeks, accompanied with lower glycaemia and insulinemia levels despite the expression of the regulatory subunit (p85) of PI3K remained unchanged[102]. Furthermore, a longer administration (4 months) of marine origin n-3 PUFAs (EPA and DHA, 45–64% respectively, replacing 15 or 44% of lipids) was also found to enhance glucose transport via *Glut4* expression in both epididymal and dorsolumbar depots of HFD-fed mice[83]. González-Periz et al. [55]alsoreportedthatfeedingwith a marine origin n-3 PUFAs-enricheddiet(6% of total lipidcontent) during 5 weeksimprovedinsulinresistance

in associationwithanincreasedexpression of *Irs-1* and *Glut4*mRNA in adiposetissue of geneticallyobeseob/obmice. Nevertheless, other authors reported only slight effects on *Glut4* expression in adipose tissue (while a significant upregulation was found in skeletal muscle) after 9 weeks of treatment with EPA (0.5 g/kg body weight), in association with a higher glucose tolerance and lower insulinemia in spontaneous diabetic rats[54]. In contrast, Gillam et al.[52] found no effects on *Glut4* and *IR* mRNA levels in adipose tissue of *fa/fa*Zucker rats given 10% of fat in the form of fish (menhaden) oil for 8.5 weeks. LeFoll et al. [107] observed no beneficial effects of fish oil(4.9% of metabolizable energy from fat) for 4 weeks on dexamethasone-induced insulin resistant rats. In fact, WAT PI3K activity was decreased in the supplemented group of both, dexamethasone treated and control rats, and GLUT4proteinlevels remained unchanged. However, Akt phosphorylation was increased in n-3 PUFAs on PI3K activity and Akt phosphorylation. As the authors pointed out, the lack of larger results could be due to an excessive dose of dexamethasone.

In conclusion, these data support that marine origin n-3 PUFAs can modulate glucose uptake and insulin response in adipose tissue, through different mechanisms. In this context, it is important to mention that n-3 PUFAs can change fatty acid content of the membrane phospholipids, increasing its insaturation[108–110], which could also mediate its effects on insulin signaling [110]. In addition, n-3 PUFAs can also influence the so-called adipokines released by adipose tissue which has an impact on inflammatory status and insulin sensitivity in obesity-related comorbidities (reviewed in the next section). However, further research is needed to deepen in the understanding of n-3 PUFAs actions on glucose homeostasis.

#### 3.5. Effects on adipokines production

Accumulating evidence suggests that marine origin n-3 PUFAs can counteract the adipokine dysregulation that occurs in obesity [15,111]. Along this review, we will provide an overview

of the current knowledge in the regulation by n-3 PUFAs of some adipokines with key roles in energy homeostasis as well as in glucose and lipid metabolism such as adiponectin, leptin and apelin.

#### Adiponectin

Adiponectin is an important insulin-sensitizing adipokine that regulates glucose and lipid metabolism reducing fat storage (lipogenesis) and promoting fat utilization (fatty acid oxidation). Moreover, adiponectin stimulates mitochondrial biogenesis and has important anti-inflammatory properties. These actions of adiponectin are in part mediated through the activation of PPAR $\gamma$  and AMPK[112]. It is well documented that adiponectin levels are reduced in subjects with obesity, which may contribute to the development of insulin resistance and cardiovascular disorders [113].

Several studies have suggested that n-3 PUFAs are regulators of adiponectin production by adipocytes. Thus, the study of Oster et al. [114] in 3T3-L1 adipocytes revealed that only DHA (125  $\mu$ M, 24 h), but not EPA was able to induce adiponectin gene expression and protein secretion. More recently, it has been found that treatment with EPA (100  $\mu$ M) and DHA (50  $\mu$ M) for 48 hincreased adiponectin only in 3T3-L1 adipocytes at early stage of maturation (8 days after induction of differentiation), while no significant effects were observed when adipocytes were treated with these n-3 PUFAs in later stages (12 and 16 days) post-induction of differentiation[115]. On the other hand, Lorente-Cebrián et al. [116] showed that a long-term treatment with EPA (200  $\mu$ M, 96 h) of primary cultured rat adipocytes decreased adiponectin expression and secretion as well as PPAR- $\gamma$  mRNA levels. However, studies in human adipocytes found that EPA (100  $\mu$ M) and DHA (100  $\mu$ M) treatment for 48 h increases adiponectin secretion, although only EPA led to higher cellular adiponectin levels into the adipocytes [117]. Altogether, these findings suggest that the regulation of adiponectin by n-3

PUFAs is dose and time-dependent and that can be affected by the maturation stage of the adipocytes.

Moreover, the differential effects of EPA and DHA observed in some studies highlights the need of studying their actions separately and in different models.

A growing body of evidence indicates that *in vivo*marine origin n-3 PUFAs treatment leads to an upregulation of adiponectin (circulating levels and/or adipose mRNA) in both rodents [55,72,118] and humans [119,120]. In this sense, replacement of dietary lipids (6-15%) in the form of n-3 PUFAs concentrate for 5 weeks increased adiponectin circulating levels in HFDfed mice [118] and adiponectin expression in both, HFD-fed mice [118] and *ob/ob* mice [55]. These results are in agreement with Tishinsky et al. [121], who reported that the HFD-induced adiponectin decrease in visceral adipose tissue of rats was prevented by replacing 15% of total kcal with marine origin n-3 PUFAs for 4 weeks. There are also results from rat studies that found how intragastric administration of n-3 PUFAs (1 g/day) for a period of 20 weeks increased adiponectin levels and mRNA in WAT and serum levels of HFD-fed Sprague-Dawley rats [122].A previous study of our group also indicated that treatment of Wistar rats with a similar dose of EPA (1 g/day) for 5 weeks caused an upregulation of adiponectin in adipose tissue [48].

Given all these data, the ability of marine origin n-3 PUFAs to stimulate adiponectin has been proposed to be involved in the beneficial actions of n-3 PUFAs on insulin sensitivity, fatty acid oxidation and inflammation, among others [123].

#### Leptin

Other widely studied adipokine with important metabolic functions is leptin. It is well recognized that leptin plays a key role in the regulation of food intake and appetite[124], energy expenditure, insulin signaling [125], as well as on the reproductive [126] and immune system[127]. Moreover, leptin is known to have proinflammatory effects given its ability to

up-regulate the immune response and the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 [128,129].

Regarding leptin's roles in body weight regulation, it is well demonstrated that leptin deficiency causes severe hyperphagia and early-onset obesity[130]. In spite of its critical role on food intake and body weight, hyperleptinemia is a common consequence of obesity in humans and rodents suggesting the presence of a resistance process that may be involved in the disturbance of body weight regulation[131].

There is evidence of the ability of dietary n-3 PUFAs to regulate leptin production *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Some assays in cultured adipocytes have observed that EPA (10, 100 and 1000  $\mu$ M, 24 h) induces leptin expression in 3T3-L1 [132] and primary rat adipocytes (10, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M, 96 h), which may be triggered by increasing the oxidative metabolism of glucose [85]. In addition, it has been reported differential effects of EPA and DHA (100  $\mu$ M and 50  $\mu$ M respectively, 48 h) on leptin expression of 3T3-L1 adipocytes, being EPA a stimulant of leptin while DHA did not have any significant effect [115].

Regarding studies in animal models of obesity treated with n-3 PUFAs, the outcomes about leptin are apparently controversial. In a recent publication, HFD-stimulated leptin expression in adipose tissue was reversed by intragastric administration of marine origin n-3 PUFAs (1 g/day, 20 weeks) although differences in serum levels did not reach statistical significance, suggesting that variations of adipokine expression possibly precede modifications in serum levels [122]. A decrease in both leptin expression and circulating levels has been also observed after fish oil (8.6% of fat composition in form of EPA and 43.8% DHA) supplementation in combination with 4% of taurine as an adjuvant for 4 weeks in obese/diabetic KK-A<sup>y</sup> mice[133]. Similar outcomes have been observed in other trials [15], suggesting that the decrease in adipose tissue leptin could be secondary to the reduction of fat pad size observed in n-3 PUFAs-supplemented groups.

In contrast, there are some studies that found a positive regulation of leptin expression by n-3 PUFAs. In this sense, Pérez-Matute et al. [48]reported that a 35 days-treatment with highly purified EPA (1 g/kg) significantly increased leptin circulating levels in overweight rats while significantly decreased in lean rats. These results correlate with Peyron-Caso et al. [40] and Rossi et al. [53], which also observed positive regulation of leptin after dietary supplementation with marine origin n-3 PUFAs (replacing 14% of lipids with fish oil for 3 weeks or replacing the source of fat with 7 g of cod liver oil/100 g for 2 months, respectively). The differential outcomes between studies may rely on differences in the physiological state of the animals and the type, dose and duration of treatments [15].

Concerning human studies, a recent meta-analysis showed that supplementation with n-3 PUFAs from marine sources could moderately reduce leptin plasma levels in non-obese, but not in obese subjects[134]. Indeed, n-3 PUFAs associated increases in leptin levels have been observed in obese subjects[135]. In this context, a recent study of our group has found that EPA supplementation (1300 mg/day, 10 weeks) prevents the fall of leptin during weight loss in overweight/obese women, suggesting that EPA could contribute to prevent weight regain in healthy weight-reduced subjects[136]. Taken together, these data highlight the relevance of the dose and duration of the treatment as well as the composition of the dietary fish oil and the metabolic state of the subjects on leptin production.

#### Apelin

Apelin is an adipokine with potential anti-diabetic, anti-obesity and cardioprotective properties [137]. Apelin circulating levels have been observed to be upregulated in hyperinsulinemic obese subjects [138]. However, it has been proposed that apelin could be a protective mechanism against type 2 diabetes development [139]. In fact, apelin treatment decreased body adiposity and increased energy expenditure through the upregulation of UCP1 in brown adipose tissue in mice [140]. Moreover, apelin administration to obese and insulin-

resistant mice also restored glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity by modifying serum levels of adiponectin, insulin and TG in DIO mice [140,141]. Furthermore, apelin activates AMPK leading to enhanced skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis, complete fatty acid oxidation and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake[142].

Treatment with EPA has been seen to exert modulatory effects of apelin both, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. For instance, EPA treatment (100 $\mu$ M, 24 h) stimulatesapelin production in cultured adipocytes [143] and myocytes [41]. A previous study of our group found that EPA supplementation (1 g/kg for 35 days) in HFD-fed rats increasesapelin mRNA in adipose tissue and suggested that the insulin-sensitizing effects of EPA in rodents could be associated to its stimulatory effect on apelin[144]. EPA supplementation (36 g/kg EPA, 10 weeks) also up-regulatesapelin in soleous muscle of HFD-fed mice [41].

In summary, all these data sheds light into the modulatory role of marine origin n-3 PUFAs on the production of key adipokinesby adipose tissue, which may mediate in part the beneficial effects of these fatty acids on glucose and lipid metabolism and contribute to manage inflammatory status of adipose tissue.

#### 3.6. Role of PPARs and AMPK in the actions of n-3 PUFAs in adipose tissue

N-3 PUFAs are naturally occurring ligands of a family of transcription factors called peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPARs), which have been largely proposed as mediators of the actions of these fatty acids.

In this context, n-3 PUFAs are known to activate PPAR $\alpha$ , which is abundantly present in mammalian liver[145]. The activation of this nuclear receptor triggers the expression of key genes involved in lipid metabolism that promote fat catabolism[145]. Fish oil has been also shown to modulate the expression of sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 (SREBP1)[146,147] with concomitant decreases of cholesterologenic and lipogenic enzymes

expression. On the other hand, PPARγis mainly expressed in adipose tissue, where it is known to induce differentiation of preadipocytes and triglyceride storage by activating a great number of genes involved in adipogenesis and fatty acid transport, storage and oxidation [145]. This nuclear receptor has been proved to bind fatty acids and lipid-derived substrates as well as Thiazolidinediones (TZDs)[145], which have been utilized as hypoglycemic and muscle insulin-sensitizing drugs in type 2 diabetes. In mature adipocytes, ligand activation of PPARγinduces the expression of a number of genes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism, improving insulin sensitivity and promoting fatty acid oxidation. Moreover, this transcription factor participates in the modulation of adipocytokines production.

Oster et al. [114] found that DHA, but not EPA (125  $\mu$ M, 24 h) led to increased expression of *Ppary*, while both stimulate adiponectinin 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Moreover, treatment with BADGE, a PPAR $\gamma$  antagonist, inhibited the stimulatory effect of DHA on adiponectin, but did not affect EPA action on this adipokine, suggesting that EPA stimulatory effects on adiponectin production may be given through a *Ppar\gamma*-independent mechanism. Studies from our group have reported decreased *Ppar\gamma*expression after chronic treatment with EPA (100-200  $\mu$ M, 96h) of cultured rat adipocytes [116].

Regarding the effects of n-3 PUFAs supplementation on PPAR $\gamma$  in rodents, González-Périz et al. [55] observed an upregulation of *Ppar* $\gamma$ mRNA levels in WAT of mice fed with a diet enriched in marine origin n-3 PUFAs (replacement of 6% total lipids, 5 weeks) accompanying the improvement in insulin sensitivity, adiponectin and decrease of inflammation. Neschen et al. [148]found a PPAR $\gamma$  dependent upregulation of adiponectin by n-3 PUFAs-rich fish oil (59% of fat-derived calories, 15 days) in mice epididymal adipose tissue, independently of PPAR $\alpha$ . However, studies from our group have reported decreased *Ppar\gamma*expression after supplementation with EPA ethyl ester (1 g/kg, 35 days)[48].Taken together, the *in vitro* and *in* 

*vivo* data suggest potential differential effects of EPA and DHA on PPAR $\gamma$ , which deserves further investigation.

Moreover, supplementation with n-3 PUFAs (3 g/day, 944 mg EPA and 2.088 DHA for 12 weeks) has been associated with a downregulated expression of *PPARy* in adipose tissue of obese adolescents[149].

Activation of AMPK phosphorylation has also been implicated in the effects of n-3 PUFAs. This heterotrimeric protein acts as an energy sensing enzyme stimulating those signaling pathways that increase energy production (i.e. glucose transport or fatty acid oxidation) and switching off energy-consuming pathways (lipogenesis, protein synthesis, gluconeogenesis). Therefore, AMPK activation has important regulatory effects of glucose and lipid metabolism in key organs including liver, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and pancreas[150]. For example, AMPK seems to be necessary for the preservation of hepatic insulin sensitivity by n-3 PUFAs[151].

A study from our group showed that EPA (100-200  $\mu$ M, 24 h) stimulated AMPK activation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, and interestingly it was demonstrated that AMPK activation is involved in the stimulatory action of EPA on visfatin production by adipocytes [143]. It was also suggested that AMPK activation is involved in the ability of EPA to prevent the lipolytic effects of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- $\alpha$  in adipocytes [81]. Furthermore, several studies have reported AMPK activation in WAT after supplementation with marine origin n-3 PUFAs. For instance, Kopecky et al. [73] found an elevation of phosphorylated AMPK levels in DIO mice fed with n-3 PUFAs (44% of lipids replacement, 5 weeks). Moreover, González-Périz et al.[55]foundthat DHA treatmentstimulated AMPK phosphorylationin WAT of *ob/ob*mice in paralleltoanimprovement in insulinsensitivity and theupregulation of insulin receptor signaling (IRS-1 and IRS-2).

#### **3.7.** Effectson adipose tissue inflammation

A growing body of evidence supports that marine origin n-3 PUFAs may ameliorate adipose tissue inflammation both in obese rodents and humans [42,152,153]. Several mechanisms have been proposed for the anti-inflammatory actions of n-3 PUFAs on WAT: (a) Reducing the production of pro-inflammatory adipocytokines and increasing the release of anti-inflammatory adipocytokines from adipose tissue; (b) Decreasing macrophage infiltration; (c) Reducing the formation of n-6 derived pro-inflammatory lipid mediators; (d) Being substrates for the formation of pro-resolutive lipid mediators.

#### (a) Modulation of cytokines, chemokines and adipokines production patterns

Strong scientific support exists about that marine origin n-3 PUFAs may alleviate adipocyte dysregulation and the subsequent inflammation by promoting the production of antiinflammatory adipose-released substances, including adiponectin or IL-10, and downregulating the secretion of the pro-inflammatory adipocytokines and chemokines including MCP-1, IL-6 or resistin[42,54,111].

Studies in cultured adipocytes indicate the ability of n-3 PUFAs to downregulate the production of pro-inflammatory molecules. For instance, the administration of EPA (150  $\mu$ M) to 3T3-L1 adipocytes significantly decreases the secretion of IL-6 and increases adiponectin levels after 48 h of treatment [42].

Animal studies also reveal this modulatory capacity of the production of pro and antiinflammatoryadipokines. In this sense, Rossmeisl et al. [47] reported a decrease in Mcp-1 and an increase in adiponectin expression in WAT after 4 months HFD-feeding period followed by 9 weeks of supplementation with DHA and EPA (30 g/kg of diet) in mice. Interestingly, Ding et al. [122] has recently shown that marine origin n-3 PUFAs intragastric administration (1 g/day for 20 weeks) decreased resistin and leptin and increased adiponectin protein levels in adipose tissue. However, Gonzalez-Périz et al. [55] did not observe any effect on Mcp-1, *Il*-

6 or *Tnf-* $\alpha$  mRNA in adipose tissue of *ob/ob* mice supplemented 6% of total lipids of diet with n-3 PUFAs for 5 weeks, although adiponectin expression was also significantly increased.

In DIO mice a 20-weeks replacement of 5% of fat in the form of EPA decreased MCP-1 expression in adipose tissue and leptin serum levels while plasma adiponectin was increased[44]. In fact, diet supplementation with EPA (0.5 g/kg) for 4 weeks resulted in a decreased expression of *Il-6* in adipose tissue of spontaneous diabetic rats[54]. This is in concordance with the study of Kalupahana et al.[42]showing that the replacement of dietary fat with EPA (36g/kg of diet for 11 weeks) reduced MCP-1 and PAI-1 in gonadal fat despite there was no change in serum levels of these proteins. In the same way, previous studies of our group reported that administration of EPA-ethyl ester to DIO rats (1g/kg, 35 days) decreased *Tnf-* $\alpha$  and *Il-6* mRNA expression in WAT in parallel with an increase in adiponectin gene expression [48,154].

Furthermore, in the epididymal adipose tissue of fat-1 transgenic male mice, it has been observed a reduction in the levels of some pro-inflammatory cytokines (MCP-1, RANTES, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2 and IL-6), in parallel with a decrease in either the percent of F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells or the crown-like structures cells [60]. In concordance with these observations, other study using the same animal model and in the same fat depot reported positive changes in the expression of some genes associated with inflammation processes, decreasing *Mcp-1* and increasing genes linked with anti-inflammatory actions [62] (see Table 2).

All this data reveal that the anti-inflammatory actions of n-3 PUFAsare in part mediated by the modulation of the production of adipocytokines, and that more research is needed to further understand the effects of n-3 PUFAs on adipose tissue secretion.

#### (b) Reduction of M1 macrophages infiltration and promotion of switch to M2

As explained before, obesity courses with increased levels of macrophages infiltration to WAT. Several studies have demonstrated the capacity of n-3 PUFAs to decrease macrophages

infiltration and to promote the switch from M1 phenotype to M2. In this way, DHA (200  $\mu$ M, 9 h) also raised mRNA levels of the main M2 phenotype indicators as *Cd36*, *Il-10*, and*Tgfβ*in RAW264.7 cells [155]. Additionally, the study of Todoric et al. [51] found downregulated expression of MCP-1 and markers related with macrophage infiltration as *Msr1*, *Il1rn* and *CD14* in WAT ofHFD-fed *db/db* mice fed with a diet enriched inmarine origin n-3 PUFAs (40% of oil volume being replaced by a concentrate of highly purified n-3 PUFA EPA and DHA re-esterified to triglyceride). Titos et al. [156] reported that DHA (4  $\mu$ g/g i.p. for 10 days) did not change the number of adipose tissue macrophages, but promoted a phenotyping switch in macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype in HFD-fed obese mice.

It is important to mention that the study of Oh et al. [157] identified that GPR120 is an n-3 PUFAs receptor mediating their potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects in mice. In fact, n-3 PUFAs were not able to reduce inflammation and macrophages infiltration when administered to GPR120 knockout mice. Therefore, these findings suggest the key role of GPR120 as mediator of n-3 PUFAs anti-inflammatory actions.

Studies in fat-1 transgenic mice have strengthened the previous information, observinga drop in the macrophage migration markers into the adipose tissue of these mice as compared with the matched wild type group fed with a HFD [158], together with an induction of a phenotypic shift from the pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages to the anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages [61,62](see Table 2).

In parallel with cultured adipocytes models, the study of Itariu et al. [159] performed in severely obese non-diabetic patients also found that supplementation with 3.36 g/day of highly purified EPA and DHA for 8 weeks decreased the expression of inflammatory markers related with macrophage signaling into adipose tissue and down-regulated the expression of the CD140 M1 macrophage marker but only in subcutaneous adipose tissue without effect in visceral fat.

#### (c) Reduction of n-6 PUFAs- derived proinflammatory lipid mediators

In adipose tissue, another switch occurs when n-3 PUFAs are increased. In fact, treatment with n-3 PUFAs may reduce the formation of pro-inflammatory lipid mediators derived from n-6 PUFAs such as leukotrienes and prostaglandins derived from Arachidonic acid. It has been proved that EPA and DHA modulate the utilization of Arachidonic acid [160], and a competitive inhibition of the production of n-6 PUFAs lipid mediators by n-3 PUFAs seems to take place [153,160,161]. DHA is able to inhibit the production of prostaglandins (PG) also by a strong competition for PG synthetase, an enzyme responsible to produce prostaglandins [162]. Interestingly, the study of González-Périz et al. [55] found that marine origin n-3 PUFAs dietary enrichment reduced the formation of n-6 PUFAs-derived proinflammatory mediators such as PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGF<sub>2a</sub>, TXB<sub>2</sub>, 5-HETE, 12-HETE and 15-HETE in adipose tissue of *ob/ob* mice. This mechanism could reduce the inflammation in adipose tissue, and help to the resolution of the low-grade inflammation that is established in obesity and metabolic complications.

#### (d) Constitute substrates for the formation of pro-resolutive lipid mediators

Serhanand collaborators discovered that n-3PUFAs serve as substrates for the formation of specialized proresolving lipid mediators (SPMs)[163–165]. EPA-derived SPMs are known as E-series Resolvins (RvE1-3) and DHA-derived lipid mediators are named as D-series Resolvins (RvD1-6), (Neuro)Protectins (NPD1) and Maresins (MaR1-2)[166](see Figure 1). These novel bioactive compounds exert potent anti-inflammatory and pro-resolutive actions in acute and chronic inflammation helping to restore tissue homeostasis[166,167]. It is important to highlight that unlike their precursors (DHA and EPA), these SPMs exert potent actions at picomolar to nanomolar range.

Interestingly, Claria et al.[168] using a metabolo-lipidomics approach detected a range of these SPMs in human subcutaneous adipose tissue, such as RvD1, RvD2, PD1, lipoxin (LX) A4, and the monohydroxy biosynthetic pathway markers of RvD1 and PD1 (17-HDHA), RvE1 (18-HEPE), and maresin 1 (14-HDHA). Importantly, it has been identified that obesity is accompanied by an impaired adipose tissue local production of some proresolving lipid mediators[169,170]. Neuhofer et al.[170]also found that adipose tissue reduction of 17-HDHA and PD1 represents one of the earliest alterations in diet-induced inflammation.

Several studies have revealed that dietary marine origin n-3 PUFAssupplementationpromoted an increment of the synthesis of n-3 PUFA–derived SPMs and their precursors in adipose tissue of obese mice[55,170]. Interestingly, treatment withhighly purifiedn-3 PUFAs (3.36 g/day for 8 weeks) to severely obese-nondiabetic patients significantly increased the production of some n-3 PUFAs-derived SPMs, including RvE1, 17-HDHA, PD1, and RvD1 in visceral adipose tissue in parallel with the reduction of adipose tissue and systemic inflammation[159].

# 4. Effects of n-3 PUFAs-derived SPMs administration in obesity and MetS

Recently, some research groups have focused on analyzing the capacity of some SPMs to improve adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and their associated metabolic complications[152,171].Table 3 summarizes the studies in animal models of obesity and related disorders treated with different n-3 PUFAs-derived SPMs.

González-Périz et al.[55]showed that treatment with RvE1 and PD1 to*ob/ob* mice mimicked the beneficial actions of n-3 PUFAs supplementation. Thus, RvE1 was able to attenuate hepatic steatosis and upregulated mRNAlevels of adiponectin, *Glut4, Irs1, Ppary* as well as AMPK phosphorylation in adipose tissue. Interestingly, PD1 increased adiponectin

expression in adipose tissue explants of *ob/ob* mice.Furthermore, RvD1 has revealed to have beneficial effects on inflammatory processes, adipokine secretion, and insulin sensitivity in both, diet-induced and genetically obese mice[156,169,172,173].Thus, Hellman et al.[173]found that RvD1 improved glucose tolerance, decreased fasting blood glucose, increased adiponectin, and in WAT promoted Akt and AMPK activation,while decreased the expression of pro-inflammatory adipokines such as IL-6. In addition, a decrease in crown-like structures rich in inflammatory F4/80+CD11c+ macrophages and an increase in F4/80+ cells expressing MGL-1 was found, supporting arise in the ratio M2:M1 adipose tissue macrophages in RvD1-treated *db/db* mice.

In agreement with these results, Titos et al.[156]showed that treatment of macrophages with RvD1 downregulated pro-inflammatory cytokines complementary to an increase of M2 markers such as Ym1 and arginase-1. In this sense, a promotion of the switch in macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype and nonphlogistic phagocytosis in adipose tissue was described. This group also reported that ex vivo treatment of inflamed obese adipose tissue explants with RvD1 and RvD2 attenuated in a dose-dependent manner the impaired expression secretion of adiponectin and also decreased the levels and of proinflammatoryadipokinessuch asleptin, TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-1B. Moreover, RvD1 and RvD2 reduced MCP-1 and leukotriene B<sub>4</sub>-stimulated monocyte adhesion to adipocytes and their transadipose migration[169]. Recently, it has been reported that RvD1 promoted the resolution process initiated by calorie restriction in obesity-induced steatohepatitis[172].

Neuhofer et al.[170]found that treatment of db/db mice with the n-3 docosanoid lipid mediator 17-HDHA reducedadipose tissue expression of inflammatory cytokines (such as MCP-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and osteopontin) and increased adiponectin levels, in parallel with an improvement of insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance.

32

The recent study of White et al.[174]demonstrated that Protectin DX (PDX) has importantinsulin-sensitizing and glucoregulatoryactions by selectively stimulating the release of the myokine IL-6 from skeletal muscle and initiating a myokine-liver signaling axis. PDX treatment also increased AMPK phosphorylation in muscle, but did not have any impact on adipose tissue inflammation in obese diabetic *db/db* mice.

#### Conclusions

Obesity leads to several chronic morbidities including type 2 diabetes, dyslipidaemia, atherosclerosis and hypertension, which are major components of MetS. Low-grade inflammation has been identified as a key factor in the development of MetS features affecting obese subjects. WAT metabolism and WAT-derived factors (fatty acids and adipokines) play an important role in the development of these metabolic disturbances. In obesity, the expanding WAT makes a substantial contribution to the development of inflammation via increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and adipokines and the reduction of anti-inflammatory adipokines. The state of chronic low-grade inflammation is powerfully amplified through the infiltration of macrophages into WAT. This dysregulated situation primarily initiated within WAT can affect the function of other metabolic organs, including liver, muscle and pancreas. These adverse facts highlight the importance of finding effective nutritional or pharmacological strategies for preventing or attenuating the adipose tissue inflammation and associated dysfunctions that accompany obesity. Growing evidence exits about the role of WAT in mediating the beneficial effects ofmarine n-3 PUFAsin obesity-associated metabolic disorders. Figure 2 summarizes the mechanisms by which marine origin n-3 PUFAs control adipose tissue metabolism and function. N-3 PUFAs have been shown to modulate adipocyte number by regulating adipocyte proliferation and differentiation as well as apoptosis. Moreover, n-3 PUFAs also

regulates pathways controlling fat storage and fat mobilization, decreasing lipid accumulation processes and favoring adipocyte oxidative metabolism by promoting mitochondrial biogenesis and fatty acid oxidation. In addition, EPA and DHA are also capable of modulate adipocyte insulin sensitivity and glucose utilization. These n-3 PUFAs actions have been related in part to their ability to stimulate PPARγ and AMPK activation. Further studies are needed to better characterize the potential britening actions of n-3 PUFAs on WAT. Importantly, marine origin n-3 PUFAs can mitigate adipose tissue inflammation by restoring the dysfunctional proinflammatory secretory pattern of hypertrophied adipocytes, and specially by promoting the formation of important proresolutive lipid mediators such as resolvins, protectins and maresins. Most of these findings have been observed in animal and cell culture models and, there is still few clinical trials addressing if these actions occur also in human adipose tissue after n-3 PUFAs supplementation. Therefore, there is a need of performing clinical trials in humans aiming to establish the more effective n-3 PUFAs doses and formulations to counteract adipose tissue dysfunction and reverse clinical metabolic disturbances in subjects with obesity and metabolic syndrome.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. The authors received support for their current and previous studies about effects of omega-3 fatty acids and derived lipid mediators by Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (MINECO) of the Government of Spain (BFU2012-36089 and AGL 2009-10873/ALI) and Navarra Government (Department of Education), and from Línea Especial "Nutrición, Obesidad y Salud" University of Navarra, and Physiopathology of Obesity and Nutrition (CIBERobn), Carlos III Health Research Institute (CB12/03/30002). L.M.F. is supported by a FPI (Formación de Personal

Investigador) program from the MINECO. L.M.L. and A.E.H. are supportedby a

predoctoralfellowshipfrom Asociación de Amigos de la Universidad de Navarra.

#### References

- [1] Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. WHO Technical Report Series 894, Geneva 2000.
- [2] Sethi JK, Vidal-Puig AJ. Thematic review series: adipocyte biology. Adipose tissue function and plasticity orchestrate nutritional adaptation. J Lipid Res 2007;48:1253–62. doi:R700005-JLR200.
- [3] Petrovic N, Walden TB, Shabalina IG, Timmons JA, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Chronic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma) activation of epididymally derived white adipocyte cultures reveals a population of thermogenically competent, UCP1containing adipocytes molecularly distinct from classic brown adipocytes. J Biol Chem 2010;285:7153–64. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.053942.
- [4] Moraes-Vieira PM, Yore MM, Dwyer PM, Syed I, Aryal P, Kahn BB. RBP4 activates antigenpresenting cells, leading to adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. Cell Metab 2014;19:512–26. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.018.
- [5] Scherer PE. Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. Diabetes 2006;55:1537–45. doi:55/6/1537.
- [6] Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Signalling role of adipose tissue: adipokines and inflammation in obesity. Biochem Soc Trans 2005;33:1078–81. doi:BST20051078.
- [7] Lanthier N, Leclercq IA. Adipose tissues as endocrine target organs. Best Pract Res Gastroenterol 2014;28:545–58. doi:10.1016/j.bpg.2014.07.002.
- [8] Elabd C, Chiellini C, Carmona M, Galitzky J, Cochet O, Petersen R, et al. Human multipotent adipose-derived stem cells differentiate into functional brown adipocytes. Stem Cells Dayt Ohio 2009;27:2753–60. doi:10.1002/stem.200.
- [9] Villarroya J, Cereijo R, Villarroya F. An endocrine role for brown adipose tissue? Am J Physiol Metab 2013;305:E567–72. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00250.2013.
- [10] Hondares E, Iglesias R, Giralt A, Gonzalez FJ, Giralt M, Mampel T, et al. Thermogenic activation induces FGF21 expression and release in brown adipose tissue. J Biol Chem 2011;286:12983–90. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.215889.
- [11] Rosell M, Hondares E, Iwamoto S, Gonzalez FJ, Wabitsch M, Staels B, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors-alpha and -gamma, and cAMP-mediated pathways, control retinol-binding protein-4 gene expression in brown adipose tissue. Endocrinology 2012;153:1162–73. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1367.
- [12] Wu J, Bostrom P, Sparks LM, Ye L, Choi JH, Giang AH, et al. Beige adipocytes are a distinct type of thermogenic fat cell in mouse and human. Cell 2012;150:366–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.016.
- [13] Shan T, Liang X, Bi P, Kuang S. Myostatin knockout drives browning of white adipose tissue through activating the AMPK-PGC1alpha-Fndc5 pathway in muscle. FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol 2013;27:1981–9. doi:10.1096/fj.12-225755.
- [14] Matsuzawa Y. Adiponectin: a key player in obesity related disorders. Curr Pharm Des 2010;16:1896–901.
- [15] Moreno-Aliaga MJ, Lorente-Cebrián S, Martínez JA. Regulation of adipokine secretion by n-3 fatty acids. Proc Nutr Soc 2010;69:324–32. doi:10.1017/S0029665110001801.
- [16] Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, W. FA Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 2003;112:1796–808. doi:10.1172/JCI19246.

- [17] Lee J. Adipose tissue macrophages in the development of obesity-induced inflammation, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Arch Pharm Res 2013;36:208–22. doi:10.1007/s12272-013-0023-8.
- [18] Kammoun HL, Kraakman MJ, Febbraio MA. Adipose tissue inflammation in glucose metabolism. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2014;15:31–44. doi:10.1007/s11154-013-9274-4.
- [19] Kraakman MJ, Murphy AJ, Jandeleit-Dahm K, Kammoun HL. Macrophage polarization in obesity and type 2 diabetes: weighing down our understanding of macrophage function? Front Immunol 2014;5:470. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00470.
- [20] Maury E, Brichard SM. Adipokine dysregulation, adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic syndrome. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2010;314:1–16. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.07.031.
- [21] Lumeng CN, Deyoung SM, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Increased inflammatory properties of adipose tissue macrophages recruited during diet-induced obesity. Diabetes 2007;56:16–23. doi:10.2337/db06-1076.
- [22] Lumeng CN, DelProposto JB, Westcott DJ, Saltiel AR. Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. Diabetes 2008;57:3239–46. doi:10.2337/db08-0872.
- [23] Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, et al. Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J Lipid Res 2005;46:2347–55. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200.
- [24] Ramos EJ, Xu Y, Romanova I, Middleton F, Chen C, Quinn R, et al. Is obesity an inflammatory disease? Surgery 2003;134:329–35. doi:10.1067/msy.2003.267.
- [25] Das UN. Is obesity an inflammatory condition? Nutrition 2001;17:953–66. doi:10.1016/S0899-9007(01)00672-4.
- [26] Yudkin JS. Adipose tissue, insulin action and vascular disease: inflammatory signals. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2003;27 Suppl 3:S25–8. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802496.
- [27] Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. Br J Nutr 2004;92:347–55. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/BJN20041213.
- [28] Fantuzzi G. Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005;115:911–9; quiz 920. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.02.023.
- [29] Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 2003;112:1821–30. doi:10.1172/JCI19451.
- [30] Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factoralpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 1993;259:87–91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183.
- [31] Lorente-Cebrián S, Costa AGV, Navas-Carretero S, Zabala M, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Role of omega-3 fatty acids in obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular diseases: a review of the evidence. J Physiol Biochem 2013;69:633–51. doi:10.1007/s13105-013-0265-4.
- [32] Emken EA, Adlof RO, Gulley RM. Dietary linoleic acid influences desaturation and acylation of deuterium-labeled linoleic and linolenic acids in young adult males. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994;1213:277–88. doi:10.1016/0005-2760(94)00054-9.
- [33] Burdge GC, Wootton SA. Conversion of α-linolenic acid to eicosapentaenoic, docosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids in young women. Br J Nutr 2002;88:411–20. doi:10.1079/BJN2002689.
- [34] Burdge GC, Jones AE, Wootton SA. Eicosapentaenoic and docosapentaenoic acids are the principal products of α-linolenic acid metabolism in young men. Br J Nutr 2002;88:355–63. doi:10.1079/BJN2002662.
- [35] Calder PC. Marine omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes: Effects, mechanisms and clinical relevance. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;2014/08/26. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.08.010.
- [36] Kasbi Chadli F, Andre A, Prieur X, Loirand G, Meynier A, Krempf M, et al. n-3 PUFA prevent metabolic disturbances associated with obesity and improve endothelial function in golden Syrian hamsters fed with a high-fat diet. Br J Nutr 2012;107:1305–15. doi:10.1017/S0007114511004387.

- [37] Hensler M, Bardova K, Jilkova ZM, Wahli W, Meztger D, Chambon P, et al. The inhibition of fat cell proliferation by n-3 fatty acids in dietary obese mice. Lipids Health Dis 2011;10:128. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-10-128.
- [38] Flachs P, Horakova O, Brauner P, Rossmeisl M, Pecina P, Franssen-van Hal N, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of marine origin upregulate mitochondrial biogenesis and induce beta-oxidation in white fat. Diabetologia 2005;48:2365–75. doi:10.1007/s00125-005-1944-7.
- [39] Pighin D, Karabatas L, Rossi A, Chicco A, Basabe JC, Lombardo YB. Fish oil affects pancreatic fat storage, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity and insulin secretion in rats fed a sucrose-rich diet. J Nutr 2003;133:4095–101.
- [40] Peyron-Caso E, Taverna M, Guerre-Millo M, Véronèse A, Pacher N, Slama G, et al. Dietary (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids up-regulate plasma leptin in insulin-resistant rats. J Nutr 2002;132:2235–40.
- [41] Bertrand C, Pignalosa A, Wanecq E, Rancoule C, Batut A, Deleruyelle S, et al. Effects of dietary eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) supplementation in high-fat fed mice on lipid metabolism and apelin/APJ system in skeletal muscle. PloS One 2013;8:e78874. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0078874.
- [42] Kalupahana NS, Claycombe K, Newman SJ, Stewart T, Siriwardhana N, Matthan N, et al. Eicosapentaenoic acid prevents and reverses insulin resistance in high-fat diet-induced obese mice via modulation of adipose tissue inflammation. J Nutr 2010;140:1915–22. doi:10.3945/jn.110.125732.
- [43] Horakova O, Medrikova D, van Schothorst EM, Bunschoten A, Flachs P, Kus V, et al. Preservation of metabolic flexibility in skeletal muscle by a combined use of n-3 PUFA and rosiglitazone in dietary obese mice. PloS One 2012;7:e43764. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043764.
- [44] Sato A, Kawano H, Notsu T, Ohta M, Nakakuki M, Mizuguchi K, et al. Antiobesity effect of eicosapentaenoic acid in high-fat/high-sucrose diet-induced obesity: importance of hepatic lipogenesis. Diabetes 2010;59:2495–504. doi:10.2337/db09-1554.
- [45] Kuda O, Jelenik T, Jilkova Z, Flachs P, Rossmeisl M, Hensler M, et al. n-3 fatty acids and rosiglitazone improve insulin sensitivity through additive stimulatory effects on muscle glycogen synthesis in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetologia 2009;52:941–51. doi:10.1007/s00125-009-1305-z.
- [46] Rossmeisl M, Jelenik T, Jilkova Z, Slamova K, Kus V, Hensler M, et al. Prevention and reversal of obesity and glucose intolerance in mice by DHA derivatives. Obes Silver Spring Md 2009;17:1023–31. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.602.
- [47] Rossmeisl M, Jilkova ZM, Kuda O, Jelenik T, Medrikova D, Stankova B, et al. Metabolic effects of n-3 PUFA as phospholipids are superior to triglycerides in mice fed a high-fat diet: possible role of endocannabinoids. PloS One 2012;7:e38834. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038834.
- [48] Pérez-Matute P, Pérez-Echarri N, Martínez JA, Marti A, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Eicosapentaenoic acid actions on adiposity and insulin resistance in control and high-fat-fed rats: role of apoptosis, adiponectin and tumour necrosis factor-alpha. Br J Nutr 2007;97:389–98. doi:10.1017/S0007114507207627.
- [49] Janovska P, Flachs P, Kazdova L, Kopecky J. Anti-obesity effect of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in mice fed high-fat diet is independent of cold-induced thermogenesis. Physiol Res 2013;62:153–61.
- [50] Raclot T, Groscolas R, Langin D, Ferre P. Site-specific regulation of gene expression by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in rat white adipose tissues. J Lipid Res 1997;38:1963–72.
- [51] Todoric J, Löffler M, Huber J, Bilban M, Reimers M, Kadl A, et al. Adipose tissue inflammation induced by high-fat diet in obese diabetic mice is prevented by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Diabetologia 2006;49:2109–19. doi:10.1007/s00125-006-0300-x.
- [52] Gillam M, Noto A, Zahradka P, Taylor CG. Improved n-3 fatty acid status does not modulate insulin resistance in fa/fa Zucker rats. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2009;81:331– 9. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2009.09.008.
- [53] Rossi AS, Lombardo YB, Lacorte J-M, Chicco AG, Rouault C, Slama G, et al. Dietary fish oil positively regulates plasma leptin and adiponectin levels in sucrose-fed, insulin-resistant rats.

Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2005;289:R486–94. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00846.2004.

- [54] Figueras M, Olivan M, Busquets S, Lopez-Soriano FJ, Argiles JM. Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) treatment on insulin sensitivity in an animal model of diabetes: improvement of the inflammatory status. Obes Silver Spring Md 2011;19:362–9. doi:10.1038/oby.2010.194.
- [55] González-Périz A, Horrillo R, Ferre N, Gronert K, Dong B, Moran-Salvador E, et al. Obesityinduced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis are alleviated by omega-3 fatty acids: a role for resolvins and protectins. FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol 2009;23:1946–57. doi:10.1096/fj.08-125674.
- [56] Flachs P, Ruhl R, Hensler M, Janovska P, Zouhar P, Kus V, et al. Synergistic induction of lipid catabolism and anti-inflammatory lipids in white fat of dietary obese mice in response to calorie restriction and n-3 fatty acids. Diabetologia 2011;54:2626–38. doi:10.1007/s00125-011-2233-2.
- [57] Pérez-Echarri N, Pérez-Matute P, Marcos-Gómez B, Marti A, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Down-regulation in muscle and liver lipogenic genes: EPA ethyl ester treatment in lean and overweight (high-fat-fed) rats. J Nutr Biochem 2009;20:705–14. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2008.06.013.
- [58] Kang JX, Wang J, Wu L, Kang ZB. Transgenic mice: fat-1 mice convert n-6 to n-3 fatty acids. Nature 2004;427:504. doi:10.1038/427504a.
- [59] Bhattacharya A, Chandrasekar B, Rahman MM, Banu J, Kang JX, Fernandes G. Inhibition of inflammatory response in transgenic fat-1 mice on a calorie-restricted diet. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;349:925–30. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.093.
- [60] White PJ, Arita M, Taguchi R, Kang JX, Marette A. Transgenic Restoration of Long-Chain n-3 Fatty Acids in Insulin Target Tissues Improves Resolution Capacity and Alleviates Obesity-Linked Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in High-Fat–Fed Mice. Diabetes 2010;59:3066– 73. doi:10.2337/db10-0054.
- [61] Belchior T, Paschoal VA, Magdalon J, Chimin P, Farias TM, Chaves-Filho AB, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids protect from diet-induced obesity, glucose intolerance, and adipose tissue inflammation through PPAR $\gamma$ -dependent and PPAR $\gamma$ -independent actions. Mol Nutr Food Res 2015:n/a n/a. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201400914.
- [62] López-Vicario C, Alcaraz-Quiles J, García-Alonso V, Rius B, Hwang SH, Titos E, et al. Inhibition of soluble epoxide hydrolase modulates inflammation and autophagy in obese adipose tissue and liver: Role for omega-3 epoxides. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2015;112:536–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.1422590112.
- [63] White PJ, Mitchell PL, Schwab M, Trottier J, Kang JX, Barbier O, et al. Transgenic ω-3 PUFA enrichment alters morphology and gene expression profile in adipose tissue of obese mice: Potential role for protectins. Metabolism 2015;64:666–76. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2015.01.017.
- [64] Romanatto T, Fiamoncini J, Wang B, Curi R, Kang JX. Elevated tissue omega-3 fatty acid status prevents age-related glucose intolerance in fat-1 transgenic mice. Biochim Biophys Acta BBA - Mol Basis Dis 2014;1842:186–91. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.10.017.
- [65] Ji S, Hardy RW, Wood PA. Transgenic expression of n-3 fatty acid desaturase (fat-1) in C57/BL6 mice: Effects on glucose homeostasis and body weight. J Cell Biochem 2009;107:809–17. doi:10.1002/jcb.22179.
- [66] Bellenger J, Bellenger S, Bataille A, Massey KA, Nicolaou A, Rialland M, et al. High Pancreatic n-3 Fatty Acids Prevent STZ-Induced Diabetes in Fat-1 Mice: Inflammatory Pathway Inhibition. Diabetes 2011;60:1090–9. doi:10.2337/db10-0901.
- [67] López-Huertas E. The effect of EPA and DHA on metabolic syndrome patients: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Br J Nutr 2012;107 Suppl 2:S185–94. doi:10.1017/S0007114512001572.
- [68] Flachs P, Rossmeisl M, Kopecky J. The effect of n-3 fatty acids on glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity. Physiol Res Acad Sci Bohemoslov 2014;63 Suppl 1:S93–118.
- [69] Kris-Etherton PM, Harris WS, Appel LJ. Omega-3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: new recommendations from the American Heart Association. Arter Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:151–2.doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000057393.97337.AE.

- [70] Weintraub H. Update on marine omega-3 fatty acids: management of dyslipidemia and current omega-3 treatment options. Atherosclerosis 2013;230:381–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.07.041.
- [71] Sun C, Wei ZW, Li Y. DHA regulates lipogenesis and lipolysis genes in mice adipose and liver. Mol Biol Rep 2011;38:731–7. doi:10.1007/s11033-010-0160-9.
- [72] Flachs P, Rossmeisl M, Bryhn M, Kopecky J. Cellular and molecular effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on adipose tissue biology and metabolism. Clin Sci Lond Engl 1979 2009;116:1–16. doi:10.1042/CS20070456.
- [73] Kopecky J, Rossmeisl M, Flachs P, Kuda O, Brauner P, Jilkova Z, et al. n-3 PUFA: bioavailability and modulation of adipose tissue function. Proc Nutr Soc 2009;68:361–9. doi:10.1017/S0029665109990231.
- [74] Guo W, Xie W, Lei T, Hamilton JA. Eicosapentaenoic acid, but not oleic acid, stimulates betaoxidation in adipocytes. Lipids 2005;40:815–21.
- [75] Tang QQ, Lane MD. Adipogenesis: from stem cell to adipocyte. Annu Rev Biochem 2012;81:715–36. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-052110-115718.
- [76] Murali G, Desouza CV, Clevenger ME, Ramalingam R, Saraswathi V. Differential effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid in promoting the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2014;90:13–21. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2013.10.002.
- [77] Hanada H, Morikawa K, Hirota K, Nonaka M, Umehara Y. Induction of apoptosis and lipogenesis in human preadipocyte cell line by n-3 PUFAs. Cell Biol Int 2011;35:51–9. doi:10.1042/CBI20100070.
- [78] Tanabe Y, Matsunaga Y, Saito M, Nakayama K. Involvement of cyclooxygenase-2 in synergistic effect of cyclic stretching and eicosapentaenoic acid on adipocyte differentiation. J Pharmacol Sci 2008;106:478–84. doi:10.1254/jphs.FP0071886.
- [79] Manickam E, Sinclair AJ, Cameron-Smith D. Suppressive actions of eicosapentaenoic acid on lipid droplet formation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Lipids Health Dis 2010;9:57–511X – 9–57. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-9-57.
- [80] Barber E, Sinclair AJ, Cameron-Smith D. Comparative actions of omega-3 fatty acids on invitro lipid droplet formation. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids 2013;89:359–66. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2013.07.006.
- [81] Kim H-K, Della-Fera M, Lin J, Baile CA. Docosahexaenoic acid inhibits adipocyte differentiation and induces apoptosis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. J Nutr 2006;136:2965–9.
- [82] Tekeleselassie AW, Goh YM, Rajion MA, Motshakeri M, Ebrahimi M. A high-fat diet enriched with low omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acid ratio reduced fat cellularity and plasma leptin concentration in Sprague-Dawley rats. ScientificWorldJournal 2013;2013:757593. doi:10.1155/2013/757593.
- [83] Ruzickova J, Rossmeisl M, Prazak T, Flachs P, Sponarova J, Veck M, et al. Omega-3 PUFA of marine origin limit diet-induced obesity in mice by reducing cellularity of adipose tissue. Lipids 2004;39:1177–85.
- [84] Lodhi IJ, Yin L, Jensen-Urstad AP, Funai K, Coleman T, Baird JH, et al. Inhibiting adipose tissue lipogenesis reprograms thermogenesis and PPARgamma activation to decrease dietinduced obesity. Cell Metab 2012;16:189–201. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.06.013.
- [85] Pérez-Matute P, Marti A, Martínez JA, Fernández-Otero MP, Stanhope KL, Havel PJ, et al. Eicosapentaenoic fatty acid increases leptin secretion from primary cultured rat adipocytes: role of glucose metabolism. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2005;288:R1682–8. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00727.2004.
- [86] Sebokova E, Klimes I, Gasperikova D, Bohov P, Langer P, Lavau M, et al. Regulation of gene expression for lipogenic enzymes in the liver and adipose tissue of hereditary hypertriglyceridemic, insulin-resistant rats: effect of dietary sucrose and marine fish oil. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1303:56–62. doi:10.1016/0005-2760(96)00084-7.
- [87] Hiller B, Herdmann A, Nuernberg K. Dietary n-3 fatty acids significantly suppress lipogenesis in bovine muscle and adipose tissue: a functional genomics approach. Lipids 2011;46:557–67. doi:10.1007/s11745-011-3571-z.

- [88] Baltzell JK, Wooten JT, Otto DA. Lipoprotein lipase in rats fed fish oil: apparent relationship to plasma insulin levels. Lipids 1991;26:289–94. doi:10.1007/BF02537139.
- [89] Nozaki S, Garg A, Vega GL, Grundy SM. Postheparin lipolytic activity and plasma lipoprotein response to omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in patients with primary hypertriglyceridemia. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;53:638–42.
- [90] Harris WS, Lu G, Rambjør GS, Wålen AI, Ontko JA, Cheng Q, et al. Influence of n-3 fatty acid supplementation on the endogenous activities of plasma lipases. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66:254– 60.
- [91] Khan S, Minihane A-M, Talmud PJ, Wright JW, Murphy MC, Williams CM, et al. Dietary long-chain n-3 PUFAs increase LPL gene expression in adipose tissue of subjects with an atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. J Lipid Res 2002;43:979–85.
- [92] López-Yoldi M, Fernández-Galilea M, Laiglesia LM, Larequi E, Prieto J, Martínez JA, et al. Cardiotrophin-1 stimulates lipolysis through the regulation of main adipose tissue lipases. J Lipid Res 2014;55:2634–43. doi:10.1194/jlr.M055335.
- [93] Lorente-Cebrián S, Bustos M, Marti A, Fernández-Galilea M, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Eicosapentaenoic acid inhibits tumour necrosis factor-alpha-induced lipolysis in murine cultured adipocytes. J Nutr Biochem 2012;23:218–27. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.11.018.
- [94] Ormseth MJ, Swift LL, Fazio S, Linton MF, Raggi P, Solus JF, et al. Free fatty acids are associated with metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance but not inflammation in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 2013;22:26–33. doi:10.1177/0961203312462756.
- [95] Rong JX, Qiu Y, Hansen MK, Zhu L, Zhang V, Xie M, et al. Adipose mitochondrial biogenesis is suppressed in db/db and high-fat diet-fed mice and improved by rosiglitazone. Diabetes 2007;56:1751–60. doi:db06-1135.
- [96] Fernández-Galilea M, Pérez-Matute P, Prieto-Hontoria PL, Houssier M, Burrell MA, Langin D, et al. alpha-Lipoic acid treatment increases mitochondrial biogenesis and promotes beige adipose features in subcutaneous adipocytes from overweight/obese subjects. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1851:273–81. doi:S1388-1981(14)00265-0.
- [97] Zhao M, Chen X. Eicosapentaenoic acid promotes thermogenic and fatty acid storage capacity in mouse subcutaneous adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2014;450:1446–51. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.010.
- [98] Oudart H, Groscolas R, Calgari C, Nibbelink M, Leray C, Le Maho Y, et al. Brown fat thermogenesis in rats fed high-fat diets enriched with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1997;21:955–62.
- [99] Takahashi Y, Ide T. Dietary n-3 fatty acids affect mRNA level of brown adipose tissue uncoupling protein 1, and white adipose tissue leptin and glucose transporter 4 in the rat. Br J Nutr 2000;84:175–84.
- [100] McArdle MA, Finucane OM, Connaughton RM, McMorrow AM, Roche HM. Mechanisms of obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance: insights into the emerging role of nutritional strategies. Front Endocrinol 2013;4:52. doi:10.3389/fendo.2013.00052.
- [101] Oliver E, McGillicuddy F, Phillips C, Toomey S, Roche HM. The role of inflammation and macrophage accumulation in the development of obesity-induced type 2 diabetes mellitus and the possible therapeutic effects of long-chain n-3 PUFA. Proc Nutr Soc 2010;69:232–43. doi:10.1017/S0029665110000042.
- [102] Taouis M, Dagou C, Ster C, Durand G, Pinault M, Delarue J. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids prevent the defect of insulin receptor signaling in muscle. Am J Physiol Metab 2002;282:E664– 71. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00320.2001.
- [103] Nguyen MT, Satoh H, Favelyukis S, Babendure JL, Imamura T, Sbodio JI, et al. JNK and tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediate free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Biol Chem 2005;280:35361–71. doi:M504611200.
- [104] Oguzhan B, Sancho V, Acitores A, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML, Portois L, Chardigny JM, et al. Alteration of adipocyte metabolism in omega3 fatty acid-depleted rats. Horm Metab Res Horm Stoffwechselforschung Horm Metab 2006;38:789–98. doi:10.1055/s-2006-956180.
- [105] Ezaki O, Tsuji E, Momomura K, Kasuga M, Itakura H. Effects of fish and safflower oil feeding on subcellular glucose transporter distributions in rat adipocytes. Am J Physiol 1992;263:E94– 101.

- [106] Peyron-Caso E, Fluteau-Nadler S, Kabir M, Guerre-Millo M, Quignard-Boulange A, Slama G, et al. Regulation of glucose transport and transporter 4 (GLUT-4) in muscle and adipocytes of sucrose-fed rats: effects of N-3 poly- and monounsaturated fatty acids. Horm Metab Res Horm Stoffwechselforschung Horm Metab 2002;34:360–6. doi:10.1055/s-2002-33467.
- [107] Le Foll C, Corporeau C, Le Guen V, Gouygou JP, Berge JP, Delarue J. Long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids dissociate phosphorylation of Akt from phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase activity in rats. Am J Physiol Metab 2007;292:E1223–30. doi:00446.2006.
- [108] Borkman M, Storlien LH, Pan DA, Jenkins AB, Chisholm DJ, Campbell LV. The relation between insulin sensitivity and the fatty-acid composition of skeletal-muscle phospholipids. N Engl J Med 1993;328:238–44. doi:10.1056/NEJM199301283280404.
- [109] Zambo V, Simon-Szabo L, Szelenyi P, Kereszturi E, Banhegyi G, Csala M. Lipotoxicity in the liver. World J Hepatol 2013;5:550–7. doi:10.4254/wjh.v5.i10.550.
- [110] Lombardo YB, Chicco AG. Effects of dietary polyunsaturated n-3 fatty acids on dyslipidemia and insulin resistance in rodents and humans. A review. J Nutr Biochem 2006;17:1–13. doi:S0955-2863(05)00211-1.
- [111] Kang JX, Weylandt KH. Modulation of inflammatory cytokines by omega-3 fatty acids. Subcell Biochem 2008;49:133–43. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-8831-5\_5.
- [112] Yadav A, Kataria MA, Saini V, Yadav A. Role of leptin and adiponectin in insulin resistance. Clin Chim Acta Int J Clin Chem 2013;417:80–4. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2012.12.007.
- [113] Turer AT, Scherer PE. Adiponectin: mechanistic insights and clinical implications. Diabetologia 2012;55:2319–26. doi:10.1007/s00125-012-2598-x.
- [114] Oster RT, Tishinsky JM, Yuan Z, Robinson LE. Docosahexaenoic acid increases cellular adiponectin mRNA and secreted adiponectin protein, as well as PPARgamma mRNA, in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab Physiol Appl Nutr Metab 2010;35:783–9. doi:10.1139/H10-076.
- [115] Prostek A, Gajewska M, Kamola D, Bałasińska B. The influence of EPA and DHA on markers of inflammation in 3T3-L1 cells at different stages of cellular maturation. Lipids Health Dis 2014;13:3. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-13-3.
- [116] Lorente-Cebrián S, Pérez-Matute P, Martínez JA, Marti A, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) on adiponectin gene expression and secretion in primary cultured rat adipocytes. J Physiol Biochem 2006;62:61–9. doi:10.1007/BF03174067.
- [117] Tishinsky JM, Ma DW, Robinson LE. Eicosapentaenoic acid and rosiglitazone increase adiponectin in an additive and PPARgamma-dependent manner in human adipocytes. Obes Silver Spring Md 2011;19:262–8. doi:10.1038/oby.2010.186.
- [118] Flachs P, Mohamed-Ali V, Horakova O, Rossmeisl M, Hosseinzadeh-Attar MJ, Hensler M, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of marine origin induce adiponectin in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetologia 2006;49:394–7. doi:10.1007/s00125-005-0053-y.
- [119] Gammelmark A, Madsen T, Varming K, Lundbye-Christensen S, Schmidt EB. Low-dose fish oil supplementation increases serum adiponectin without affecting inflammatory markers in overweight subjects. Nutr Res N Y N 2012;32:15–23. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2011.12.007.
- [120] Itoh M, Suganami T, Satoh N, Tanimoto-Koyama K, Yuan X, Tanaka M, et al. Increased adiponectin secretion by highly purified eicosapentaenoic acid in rodent models of obesity and human obese subjects. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007;27:1918–25. doi:ATVBAHA.106.136853.
- [121] Tishinsky JM, De Boer AA, Dyck DJ, Robinson LE. Modulation of visceral fat adipokine secretion by dietary fatty acids and ensuing changes in skeletal muscle inflammation. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab Physiol Appliquée Nutr Métabolisme 2014;39:28–37. doi:10.1139/apnm-2013-0135.
- [122] Ding WJ, Wang Y, Fan JG. Regulation of adipokines by polyunsaturated fatty acids in a rat model of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Arch Iran Med 2014;17:563–8. doi:014178/AIM.008.
- [123] Siriwardhana N, Kalupahana NS, Moustaid-Moussa N. Health benefits of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid. Adv Food Nutr Res 2012;65:211– 22. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-416003-3.00013-5.
- [124] Ahima RS, Prabakaran D, Mantzoros C, Qu D, Lowell B, Maratos-Flier E, et al. Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. Nature 1996;382:250–2. doi:10.1038/382250a0.

- [125] Havel PJ. Update on adipocyte hormones: regulation of energy balance and carbohydrate/lipid metabolism. Diabetes 2004;53 Suppl 1:S143–51. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.2007.S143.
- [126] Caprio M, Fabbrini E, Isidori AM, Aversa A, Fabbri A. Leptin in reproduction. Trends Endocrinol Metab TEM 2001;12:65–72. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00352-0.
- [127] La Cava A, Matarese G. The weight of leptin in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4:371–9. doi:10.1038/nri1350.
- [128] Shen J, Sakaida I, Uchida K, Terai S, Okita K. Leptin enhances TNF-alpha production via p38 and JNK MAPK in LPS-stimulated Kupffer cells. Life Sci 2005;77:1502–15. doi:S0024-3205(05)00400-5.
- [129] Santos-Alvarez J, Goberna R, Sanchez-Margalet V. Human leptin stimulates proliferation and activation of human circulating monocytes. Cell Immunol 1999;194:6–11. doi:10.1006/cimm.1999.1490.
- [130] Dubern B, Clement K. Leptin and leptin receptor-related monogenic obesity. Biochimie 2012;94:2111–5. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2012.05.010.
- [131] Sáinz N, Barrenetxe J, Moreno-Aliaga MJ, Martínez JA. Leptin resistance and diet-induced obesity: central and peripheral actions of leptin. Metabolism 2015;64:35–46. doi:S0026-0495(14)00309-6.
- [132] Murata M, Kaji H, Takahashi Y, Iida K, Mizuno I, Okimura Y, et al. Stimulation by eicosapentaenoic acids of leptin mRNA expression and its secretion in mouse 3T3-L1 adipocytes in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;270:343–8. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.2424.
- [133] Mikami N, Hosokawa M, Miyashita K. Dietary combination of fish oil and taurine decreases fat accumulation and ameliorates blood glucose levels in type 2 diabetic/obese KK-A(y) mice. J Food Sci 2012;77:H114–20. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3841.2012.02687.x.
- [134] Hariri M, Ghiasvand R, Shiranian A, Askari G, Iraj B, Salehi-Abargouei A. Does omega-3 fatty acids supplementation affect circulating leptin levels? A systematic review and meta-analysis on randomized controlled clinical trials. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2015;82:221–8. doi:10.1111/cen.12508.
- [135] Gray B, Steyn F, Davies PS, Vitetta L. Omega-3 fatty acids: a review of the effects on adiponectin and leptin and potential implications for obesity management. Eur J Clin Nutr 2013;67:1234–42. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.197.
- [136] Huerta AE, Navas-Carretero S, Prieto-Hontoria PL, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Effects of alpha-lipoic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid in overweight and obese women during weight loss. Obes Silver Spring Md 2015;23:313–21. doi:10.1002/oby.20966.
- [137] Castan-Laurell I, Dray C, Attane C, Duparc T, Knauf C, Valet P. Apelin, diabetes, and obesity. Endocrine 2011;40:1–9. doi:10.1007/s12020-011-9507-9.
- [138] Boucher J, Masri B, Daviaud D, Gesta S, Guigne C, Mazzucotelli A, et al. Apelin, a newly identified adipokine up-regulated by insulin and obesity. Endocrinology 2005;146:1764–71. doi:en.2004-1427.
- [139] Castan-Laurell I, Boucher J, Dray C, Daviaud D, Guigne C, Valet P. Apelin, a novel adipokine over-produced in obesity: friend or foe? Mol Cell Endocrinol 2005;245:7–9. doi:S0303-7207(05)00335-7.
- [140] Higuchi K, Masaki T, Gotoh K, Chiba S, Katsuragi I, Tanaka K, et al. Apelin, an APJ receptor ligand, regulates body adiposity and favors the messenger ribonucleic acid expression of uncoupling proteins in mice. Endocrinology 2007;148:2690–7. doi:en.2006-1270.
- [141] Dray C, Knauf C, Daviaud D, Waget A, Boucher J, Buleon M, et al. Apelin stimulates glucose utilization in normal and obese insulin-resistant mice. Cell Metab 2008;8:437–45. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2008.10.003.
- [142] Attane C, Foussal C, Le Gonidec S, Benani A, Daviaud D, Wanecq E, et al. Apelin treatment increases complete Fatty Acid oxidation, mitochondrial oxidative capacity, and biogenesis in muscle of insulin-resistant mice. Diabetes 2012;61:310–20. doi:10.2337/db11-0100.
- [143] Lorente-Cebrián S, Bustos M, Marti A, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Eicosapentaenoic acid up-regulates apelin secretion and gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res 2010;54 Suppl 1:S104–11. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200900522.

- [144] Pérez-Echarri N, Pérez-Matute P, Marcos-Gomez B, Martínez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid ethyl ester on visfatin and apelin in lean and overweight (cafeteria diet-fed) rats. Br J Nutr 2009;101:1059–67. doi:10.1017/S0007114508048307.
- [145] Ferre P. The biology of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: relationship with lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Diabetes 2004;53 Suppl 1:S43–50.
- [146] Kim HJ, Takahashi M, Ezaki O. Fish oil feeding decreases mature sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 1 (SREBP-1) by down-regulation of SREBP-1c mRNA in mouse liver. A possible mechanism for down-regulation of lipogenic enzyme mRNAs. J Biol Chem 1999;274:25892–8.
- [147] Nakatani T, Kim HJ, Kaburagi Y, Yasuda K, Ezaki O. A low fish oil inhibits SREBP-1 proteolytic cascade, while a high-fish-oil feeding decreases SREBP-1 mRNA in mice liver: relationship to anti-obesity. J Lipid Res 2003;44:369–79. doi:10.1194/jlr.M200289-JLR200.
- [148] Neschen S, Morino K, Rossbacher JC, Pongratz RL, Cline GW, Sono S, et al. Fish oil regulates adiponectin secretion by a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma-dependent mechanism in mice. Diabetes 2006;55:924–8. doi:55/4/924.
- [149] Mejía-Barradas CM, Del-Rio-Navarro BE, Domínguez-López A, Campos-Rodríguez R, Martínez-Godínez M, Rojas-Hernández S, et al. The consumption of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids differentially modulates gene expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha and gamma and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha in subcutaneous adipose tissue of obese adolescents. Endocrine 2014;45:98–105. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-9941-y.
- [150] Daval M, Foufelle F, Ferre P. Functions of AMP-activated protein kinase in adipose tissue. J Physiol 2006;574:55–62. doi:jphysiol.2006.111484.
- [151] Jelenik T, Rossmeisl M, Kuda O, Jilkova ZM, Medrikova D, Kus V, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase alpha2 subunit is required for the preservation of hepatic insulin sensitivity by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Diabetes 2010;59:2737–46. doi:10.2337/db09-1716.
- [152] Titos E, Claria J. Omega-3-derived mediators counteract obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. Prostaglandins Lipid Mediat 2013;107:77–84. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2013.05.003.
- [153] González-Périz A, Clària J. Resolution of adipose tissue inflammation. ScientificWorldJournal 2010;10:832–56. doi:10.1100/tsw.2010.77.
- [154] Pérez-Echarri N, Pérez-Matute P, Marcos-Gómez B, Baena MJ, Marti A, Martínez JA, et al. Differential inflammatory status in rats susceptible or resistant to diet-induced obesity: effects of EPA ethyl ester treatment. Eur J Nutr 2008;47:380–6. doi:10.1007/s00394-008-0738-3.
- [155] Chang HY, Lee HN, Kim W, Surh YJ. Docosahexaenoic acid induces M2 macrophage polarization through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activation. Life Sci 2015;120:39–47. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2014.10.014.
- [156] Titos E, Rius B, González-Périz A, López-Vicario C, Morán-Salvador E, Martínez-Clemente M, et al. Resolvin D1 and its precursor docosahexaenoic acid promote resolution of adipose tissue inflammation by eliciting macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 2011;187:5408–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100225.
- [157] Oh DY, Talukdar S, Bae EJ, Imamura T, Morinaga H, Fan W, et al. GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects. Cell 2010;142:687–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.041.
- [158] Li X, Ballantyne LL, Che X, Mewburn JD, Kang JX, Barkley RM, et al. Endogenously Generated Omega-3 Fatty Acids Attenuate Vascular Inflammation and Neointimal Hyperplasia by Interaction With Free Fatty Acid Receptor 4 in Mice. J Am Heart Assoc 2015;4:e001856. doi:10.1161/JAHA.115.001856.
- [159] Itariu BK, Zeyda M, Hochbrugger EE, Neuhofer A, Prager G, Schindler K, et al. Long-chain n-3 PUFAs reduce adipose tissue and systemic inflammation in severely obese nondiabetic patients: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;96:1137–49. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.037432.
- [160] Lee TH, Mencia-Huerta JM, Shih C, Corey EJ, Lewis RA, Austen KF. Effects of exogenous arachidonic, eicosapentaenoic, and docosahexaenoic acids on the generation of 5-lipoxygenase pathway products by ionophore-activated human neutrophils. J Clin Invest 1984;74:1922–33. doi:10.1172/JCI111612.

- [161] Needleman P, Raz A, Minkes MS, Ferrendelli JA, Sprecher H. Triene prostaglandins: prostacyclin and thromboxane biosynthesis and unique biological properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U A 1979;76:944–8.
- [162] Corey EJ, Shih C, Cashman JR. Docosahexaenoic acid is a strong inhibitor of prostaglandin but not leukotriene biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U A 1983;80:3581–4.
- [163] Serhan CN. Resolution phase of inflammation: novel endogenous anti-inflammatory and proresolving lipid mediators and pathways. Annu Rev Immunol 2007;25:101–37. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141647.
- [164] Poulsen RC, Gotlinger KH, Serhan CN, Kruger MC. Identification of inflammatory and proresolving lipid mediators in bone marrow and their lipidomic profiles with ovariectomy and omega-3 intake. Am J Hematol 2008;83:437–45. doi:10.1002/ajh.21170.
- [165] Serhan CN. Systems approach to inflammation resolution: identification of novel antiinflammatory and pro-resolving mediators. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7 Suppl 1:44–8. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03396.x.
- [166] Serhan CN. Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. Nature 2014;510:92–101. doi:10.1038/nature13479.
- [167] Qu Q, Xuan W, Fan GH. Roles of resolvins in the resolution of acute inflammation. Cell Biol Int 2015;39:3–22. doi:10.1002/cbin.10345.
- [168] Claria J, Nguyen BT, Madenci AL, Ozaki CK, Serhan CN. Diversity of lipid mediators in human adipose tissue depots. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2013;304:C1141–9. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00351.2012.
- [169] Claria J, Dalli J, Yacoubian S, Gao F, Serhan CN. Resolvin D1 and resolvin D2 govern local inflammatory tone in obese fat. J Immunol 2012;189:2597–605. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201272.
- [170] Neuhofer A, Zeyda M, Mascher D, Itariu BK, Murano I, Leitner L, et al. Impaired local production of proresolving lipid mediators in obesity and 17-HDHA as a potential treatment for obesity-associated inflammation. Diabetes 2013;62:1945–56. doi:10.2337/db12-0828.
- [171] Spite M, Claria J, Serhan CN. Resolvins, specialized proresolving lipid mediators, and their potential roles in metabolic diseases. Cell Metab 2014;19:21–36. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.10.006.
- [172] Rius B, Titos E, Moran-Salvador E, Lopez-Vicario C, Garcia-Alonso V, Gonzalez-Periz A, et al. Resolvin D1 primes the resolution process initiated by calorie restriction in obesity-induced steatohepatitis. FASEB J 2014;28:836–48. doi:10.1096/fj.13-235614.
- [173] Hellmann J, Tang Y, Kosuri M, Bhatnagar A, Spite M. Resolvin D1 decreases adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic mice. FASEB J 2011;25:2399–407. doi:10.1096/fj.10-178657.
- [174] White PJ, St-Pierre P, Charbonneau A, Mitchell PL, St-Amand E, Marcotte B, et al. Protectin DX alleviates insulin resistance by activating a myokine-liver glucoregulatory axis. Nat Med 2014;20:664–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3549.

Animal model	Treatment	Duration	Metabolic outcomes	Study
Male mice (aP2-Cre-ER <sup>T2</sup> PPAR $\gamma^{L2/L2}$ ) fed HFD	Corn oil-based HFD with LC n-3 PUFAs concentrate replacing 15% (wt/wt) of dietary lipids.	42 days	↓Body weight ↓Epididymal fat ↓Subcutaneous fat	[37]
Male Wistar rats fed a sucrose-rich diet	Fish oil (7 g/100 g of fish oil plus 1 g/100 g of corn oil) replacing the source of fat diet	60 days	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↓Epididymal Fat</li> <li>↓Retroperitoneal fat</li> <li>↓FFA</li> <li>↓TG</li> <li>↓Glucose</li> <li>↔Insulin</li> </ul>	[39]
Male Wistar rats fed with HFD	Native fish oil (200 g/kg diet), ethyl ester of EPA or DHA or as a mixture of ethylesters of these two fatty acids	4 weeks	↔Body weight ↔NEFA ↓TG ↔Insulin	[50]
Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD	6% of EPA and 51% of DHA (EPAX 1050) replacing 44% of dietary fat	4 weeks	↓Body weight ↓Epididymal Fat	[38]
	n-3 PUFAs deprivation for 2 weeks followed by 5 weeks EPAX 1050 replacing 15% of dietary lipids	5 weeks	↓Epididymal Fat	

#### Table 1. Effects of marine n-3 PUFAs on obesity and MetS features in animal models

Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD	n-3 PUFAs concentrate (46% wt/wt DHA, 14% wt/wt EPA) replacing 15% of dietary lipids	5 weeks	↓ TG ↓β-hydroxybutyrate ↔Glucose ↓ Insulin	[56]
Male <i>ob/ob</i> mice	n-3 PUFA-enriched diet (6% of total lipid content)	5 weeks	↔Epididymal fat ↓Cholesterol ↔TG ↔FFA	[55]
Male Sprague-Dawley rats	Fish oil (MAXEPA; 14 g/100 g diet wt/wt) replacing the source of fat diet	3 and 6 weeks	↔Body weight ↓Epididymal Fat ↓Retroperitoneal fat	[106]

Male <i>db/db</i> mice fed with HFD	Purified marine n-3 PUFAs (Re-esterified to triglycerides) replacing 40% of oil volume	6 weeks	↔Body weight ↔NEFA ↓TG ↔Glucose	[51]
Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD	Herring derived n-3 PUFAs concentrate rich in phosphatidylcholine (EPAX AS; 5 g DHA/EPA per kg diet) replacing 10% of dietary lipids	7 weeks	↓Body weight ↓Cholesterol ↓NEFA ↓TG ↓Glucose ↓Insulin	[47]

<i>fa/fa</i> Zucker rats	Menhaden oil replacing 10% (wt/wt) of dietary fat	8.5 weeks	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↔Fat depots</li> <li>↓FFA</li> <li>↔TG</li> <li>↔Glucose tolerance</li> </ul>	[52]
Male Golden Syrian hamsters fed HFD	n-3 PUFAs oil mixture replacing 10% of lard oil	20 weeks	<ul> <li>↓Body weight</li> <li>↓Cholesterol</li> <li>↓TG</li> <li>↓HDL-c</li> <li>↓Glucose</li> <li>↑Glucose tolerance</li> </ul>	[36]
Male Wistar rats fed with sucrose-rich diet 7 months prior treatment	Fish oil (7 g cod liver oil/ 100 g diet) replacing the source of fat diet	2 months	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↓FFA</li> <li>↓TG</li> <li>↓Glucose</li> <li>↔Insulin</li> </ul>	[53]
Male C57BK/6J (B/6J) mice fed HFD	n-3 PUFAs concentrate (46% wt/wt DHA, 14% wt/wt EPA) replacing 15% of dietary lipids	7 months	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↓Epididymal fat</li> <li>↓NEFA</li> <li>↓TG</li> <li>↓Glucose</li> <li>↑Glucose tolerance</li> </ul>	[49]

Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD 4 months prior treatment	DHA (α-ethyl DHA ester) replaced 1.5% of dietary lipids	2 months	↓Body weight ↓Epididymal fat ↓Subcutaneous fat ↓NEFA ↓TG ↓Glucose ↓Insulin	[46]
Male C57BL/6N and C57BL/6J mice fed HFD	DHA (α-ethyl DHA ester) replaced 1.5% of dietary lipids	4 months	↓Body weight ↓Cholesterol ↓NEFA ↓TG ↓Glucose ↑Glucose tolerance ↓Insulin	
Male Wistar rats fed with control or cafeteria diet	EPA ethyl ester (1 g/kg body weight daily; oral gavage)	35 days	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↓ Retroperitoneal fat</li> <li>↑Glucose tolerance</li> <li>↓Insulin</li> </ul>	[48]
			↓Cholesterol ↓ TG ↔FFA	[144]
Male Goto-Kakizaki rats	EPA (0.5 g/kg body weight; oral gavage)	Daily for 4 weeks	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↔Glucose</li> <li>↔Glucose tolerance</li> <li>↓Insulin</li> </ul>	[54]

Male C57BL6/J fed HFD	EPA ethyl ester (36 g/kg diet wt/wt)	10 weeks	↓Body weight ↓Glucose ↑Glucose tolerance ↓Insulin	[41]
Male C57BL/6J mice fed HFD	EPA ethyl ester (36 g/kg diet (wt/wt))	11 weeks	<ul> <li>↓ Body weight</li> <li>↓ TG</li> <li>↓ Glucose</li> <li>↑ Glucose tolerance</li> <li>↓ Insulin</li> </ul>	[42]
Male C57BL/6J mice fed HFD 6 weeks prior treatment		5 weeks	<ul> <li>↔Body weight</li> <li>↓TG</li> <li>↓Glucose</li> <li>↑Glucose tolerance</li> <li>↓Insulin</li> </ul>	
Male C57BL/6J mice fed a high fat/high sucrose diet (HF/HS) or a HFD	EPA ethyl ester (5 wt% of diet)	20 weeks	↓Body weight ↓Cholesterol ↓NEFA ↓TG ↓Glucose ↓Insulin	[44]

Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD	n-3 PUFAs concentrate (46% wt/wt DHA, 14% wt/wt EPA) replacing 15% of dietary lipids + <b>Rosiglitazone</b>	6 weeks	↓Body weight ↔NEFA ↓TG ↔Glucose ↓Insulin	[43]
Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD	n-3 PUFAs concentrate (46% wt/wt DHA, 14% wt/wt EPA) replacing 15% of dietary lipids + <b>Rosiglitazone</b>	8 weeks	↓Cholesterol ↔NEFA ↔TG ↔Insulin	[45]
		20 weeks	↓Cholesterol ↓NEFA ↔Glucose ↑Insulin sensitivity ↓Insulin	
Male C57BL/6N mice fed HFD 5 months prior to treatment	n-3 PUFAs concentrate (46% wt/wt DHA, 14% wt/wt EPA) replacing 15% of dietary lipids + <b>Rosiglitazone</b>	8 weeks	↓Body weight ↓NEFA ↓TG ↓Glucose ↑Glucose tolerance	

 $\downarrow$ , decrease;  $\uparrow$ , increase;  $\leftrightarrow$ , no change; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; HFD, high fat diet; HS, high sucrose; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; TG: triglycerides.

Animal model	Treatment	Duration	Outcomes	Study
Males and females <i>fat-1</i> and wild type mice fed with high n-6 unsaturated fat (HUSF)	HUSF (15% CHO, 62% fat of which 77% from linoleic acid and 13% oleic acid, 23% protein). After HUSF diet, mice were either sacrificed or switched to high carbohydrate diet period (58% CHO, 13% fat and 29% protein).	≈8 weeks (HUSF diet) ≈3 weeks (HC diet)	<ul> <li>↓Body weight in males</li> <li>↔Body weight (females)</li> <li>↔Fat pads (both males and females),</li> <li>↔Fasting blood glucose</li> <li>↓Glucose AUC (males)</li> <li>↑Glucose AUC (females)</li> <li>↔Insulin sensitivity</li> </ul>	[65]
Males <i>fat-1</i> and wild type mice fed chow diet or HFD	Chow diet (13% kcal from fat) and HFD (55% kcal from fat)	8 weeks	<ul> <li>↔In any variable in LFD groups</li> <li>Versus HFD group</li> <li>↔Body weight, food intake,</li> <li>↔Adiposity,</li> <li>↔NEFA</li> <li>↓Insulin resistance</li> <li>↓Glucose intolerance</li> </ul> Epididymal adipose tissue <ul> <li>↓F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells and formation of crown-like structures</li> <li>↓MCP-1 (CCL2), RANTES (CCL5),</li> <li>IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6</li> <li>↑17-HDoHE, PD1, 18-HEPE</li> </ul>	[60]

 Table 2. Effects of endogenously produced n-3 PUFAs in the transgenic mice fat-1 on body composition and metabolic disorders

Male f <i>at-1</i> and wild type mice fed HFD	55 % kcal from fat	8 weeks	<ul> <li>Epididymal adipose tissue</li> <li>↑Mid-sized adipocytes</li> <li>↓Large and very large adipocytes</li> <li>↓Gata3</li> <li>↑PPARγ gene expression</li> <li>↓Inhibitors of insulin signal transduction (Enpp1, Ptprf)</li> </ul>	[63]
Male and female <i>fat-1</i> mice breeders on C57BL/6 background	Modified AIN-76A rodent diet (10% corn oil) Femoral artery thrombosis and chronic artery damage were induced by FeCl <sub>3</sub>	8 weeks	↓Macrophage migration in perivascular adipose tissue N-3 PUFAs exerts its effects via activation of FFAR4 (GRP120) ↓Thrombus formation ↓Artery hyperplasia	[158]
Male <i>fat-1</i> mice and C57BL/6 mice as control, either fed with LFD or with HFD	LFD (70% CHO, 20% protein, 10% fat) and HFD (20% CHO, 20% protein, 60% fat)	8 weeks	<ul> <li>↔In any variable in LFD groups</li> <li>Versus HFD group</li> <li>↓Body weight gain, adiposity and food efficiency</li> <li>↑Energy expenditure</li> <li>↓Plasma leptin</li> <li>↔Food intake,</li> <li>↔TG, NEFA, cholesterol, insulin, adiponectin or resistin</li> <li>↓Fasting glycaemia and glucose</li> <li>AUC (mediated by PPARγ)</li> <li>↓ M1 (F4/80<sup>+</sup>, CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells)</li> <li>↑ M2 (F4/80<sup>+</sup>, CD206<sup>+</sup> cells)</li> </ul>	[61]

Males <i>fat-1</i> mice and C57BL/6 mice as control, either fed with chow diet or with HFD. C57BL/6 with HFD+n-3 PUFAs	Chow diet (13% kcal from fat) and HFD (60% kcal from fat). Control mice fed with n-3 PUFAs- enriched diet.	16 weeks	<ul> <li>↔In any variable in LFD groups</li> <li>Versus HFD group</li> <li>↓HFD-induced weight gain</li> <li>↓White adipose tissue (epididymal),</li> <li>↓Adipocyte size</li> </ul>	[62]
			Epididymal adipose tissue ↓Macrophage infiltration and fibrosis ↓MCP-1 gene expression ↑CD206, IL-10, MGL1 gene expression ↔IL-6, IL-1β, Arg1, RELMα and Ym1 gene expression	
2-months and 8-months aged males <i>fat-1</i> mice and wild type mice fed with	AIN-76 test diet (10 % corn oil diet).	2 months or 8 months	$\leftrightarrow$ In any variable in the 2-month-old mice (fat-1 vs wild type)	[64]
AIN-76A test diet			8-month-old-mice	
			$\downarrow$ Body weight and epididymal fat	
			↓Blood glucose and insulin	
			↑Insulin sensitivity	
			$\downarrow$ TG and cholesterol	

 $\downarrow$ , decrease;  $\uparrow$ ; increase;  $\leftrightarrow$ , no change; 18-HEPE, 18-hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acid; Arg1, arginase-1; AUC, area under curve; CCL, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand; Enpp1, ectonucleotidepyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1; FFAR4, free fatty acid receptor 4; GPR120, G protein-coupled receptor 120; HFD, high fat diet; IL, interleukin; LFD, low fat diet; M, macrophage, MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; MGL1, macrophage galactose-type C-type lectin 1; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; PD1, protectin D 1; PPAR $\gamma$ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; Ptprf, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type, F; RELM $\alpha$ , resistin-like molecule- $\alpha$ ; RANTES, regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted; TG, triglycerides.

		Treatment		
SPM	Animal	(dose & duration)	Observations	References
RvD1	<i>ob/ob</i> mice	1.2 ng/g b.w. every 24h during 4 days	<ul> <li>↑PPARγ, GLUT4 and IRS-1 gene expression</li> <li>↑ Adiponectin</li> <li>↓ Formation of n-6 PUFAs derived eicosanoids</li> <li>↑ Formation of n-3 PUFAs derived resolvins and protectins</li> </ul>	[55]
RvD1	<i>db/db</i> mice	2μg/kg b.w.for 8 to 16 days	<ul> <li>↑ Glucose tolerance</li> <li>↓ Fasting blood glucose</li> <li>↑ Adiponectin</li> <li>↑ Insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation in WAT</li> <li>↑ AMPK phosphorylation in WAT</li> <li>↓ IL-6 expression in WAT</li> <li>↓ Crown-like structures rich in inflammatory</li> <li>F4/80+ CD11c+ macrophages</li> <li>↑ F4/80+ cells expressing MGL-1.</li> </ul>	[170]
RvD1	C57BL/6J mice HFD	300ng every 24h during 3 weeks + Calorie restriction	<ul> <li>↑ Adiponectin</li> <li>↑ IL-4 and IL-10</li> <li>↓ Macrophage innate immune response in liver</li> </ul>	[169]

Table 3.Effects of treatment with n-3 PUFAs-derived SPMs in animal models of obesity and related metabolic disorders.

17- HDHA	<i>db/db</i> mice	50 ng/g b.w. every 12 h during 8 days, or continuous application for 15 days	<ul> <li>↓ Expression of MCP-1, TNF-α, IL-6 and osteopontin in WAT</li> <li>↑ Adiponectin</li> <li>↑ Glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity</li> </ul>	[166]
Protectin DX	<i>db/db</i> mice	1 $\mu$ g intravenously immediately before and 2.5 h into the 6-h lipid infusion	<ul> <li>↑ IL-6 expression in skeletal muscle</li> <li>↑ AMPK phosphorylation in skeletal muscle</li> <li>↑ Insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle</li> </ul>	[171]

 $\downarrow$ , decrease;  $\uparrow$ , increase;  $\leftrightarrow$ , no change; GLUT4, glucose transporter 4; IL, interleukin; IRS-1, insulin receptor substrate-1; MCP-1, macrophage chemoattractant protein; MGL-1, macrophage galactose-type C-type lectin-1; PPAR $\gamma$ , proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$ ; PUFAs, polyunsaturated fatty acids; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; WAT, white adipose tissue.

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

**Fig. 1. Overview of the pathways involved in the formation of n-3 PUFAs-derived bioactive lipid mediators.** COX: cyclooxygenase, DHA: docosahexaenoic acid, EPA: eicosapentaenoic acid, HEPE: hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acid, HpDHA: hydroperoxydocosahexaenoic acid, HpEPE: hydroperoxyeicosapentaenoicacid, LOX lipoxygenase, 17-HDHA: 17-hydroxydocosahexaenoic acid.

**Fig. 2.Summary of mechanisms by which n-3 PUFAs (EPA and DHA) regulate adipose tissue metabolism and functions.** Marinen-3 PUFAs modulate adipocyte fat storage and mobilization, favoring adipocyte oxidative metabolism through the stimulation of mitochondrial biogenesis and fatty acid oxidation. EPA and DHA also regulate adipocyte glucose utilization and insulin sensitivity (Akt phosphorylation). These n-3 PUFAs actions are in part mediated by PPARγ and AMPK activation. Potential britening actions of n-3 PUFAs on WAT have been also suggested. Marine origin n-3 PUFAs also regulate the secretion of adipokines involved in energy homeostasis and intermediate metabolism, which could also contribute to the beneficial effects of these fatty acids on glucose and lipid metabolism. EPA and DHA can mitigate adipose tissue inflammation by regulating the production of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, by decreasing M1 macrophage infiltration, by reducing the formation of n-6 derived pro-inflammatory lipid mediators and being substrates for the formation of pro-resolutive lipid mediators, such as resolvins, protectins and maresins.



